

MESTRADO EM

GESTÃO DE RECURSOS HUMANOS Trabalho Final de Mestrado

DISSERTAÇÃO

TEACHING AND TELEWORKING IN PANDEMIC TIMES: IMPACT ON JOB SATISFACTION (ISEG)

POR SARA RAQUEL PATO

ORIENTAÇÃO:

ELSA FONTAINHA

DEZEMBRO-2021



MASTER IN

HUMAN RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

MASTERS FINAL THESIS

DISSERTATION

TEACHING AND TELEWORKING IN PANDEMIC TIMES: IMPACT ON JOB SATISFACTION (ISEG)

BY SARA RAQUEL PATO

SUPERVISION:

ELSA FONTAINHA

DECEMBER-2021

Abstract

The aim of this thesis is to analyse the impact of pandemic on teachers' job satisfaction. Four hypotheses are studied as having impact on job satisfaction: i) the teachers' levels of technostress and of adaptation to the emergency remote teaching; ii) the work-life conflict associated to changes in time allocation, workload, and displacement of the workplace; iii) the decrease of mental well-being and mental health; iv) the motivation and sense of success levels associated to student engagement and outcomes and student-teacher communication. The empirical research is based on an original online survey applied to middle and high school teachers in Portugal https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en/ (Demo, English version) and https://www.c19profsurvey.com/ (Original, Portuguese version) . Information from different periods and moments is collected: before pandemic; first school closure in 2020; second school closure in 2021; and at the time of the survey. The data collected (N=693) includes information about characteristics and changes that occurred regarding: teachers and their households; job satisfaction and life satisfaction; stress and burnout; working time and teaching roles; work-life conflict and balance; teachings goals, methods, and outcomes; work stressors; working conditions for telework; expectations about their job and teaching methods for the year 2021/2022. The methodology of analysis includes descriptive statistics and qualitative analysis of the open questions.

The results show that teachers' job satisfaction decreased during the pandemic. The performance and outcomes of students and the increasing teachers' workload seem to be the main drivers of that decrease. Teachers' level of stress and burnout were also associated with the pandemic and had a negative impact on satisfaction in work. Contrary to general telework literature, the research results did not demonstrate that unvoluntary remote teaching decreased the work-life conflict. There was no evidence that technostress corresponds to a source of the decrease in job satisfaction.

Keywords: Online teaching and learning, Job Satisfaction, Work-Life Conflict and Balance, Covid-19, Portugal.

Resumo

O objetivo desta tese é analisar o impacto da pandemia na satisfação com o trabalho dos professores. São estudadas quatro hipóteses como tendo impacto na satisfação no trabalho: i) os níveis de technostress e de adaptação ao ensino remoto de emergência; ii) o conflito trabalho-vida associado a mudanças na alocação de tempo, sobrecarga de trabalho e deslocamento do local de trabalho; iii) a diminuição do bem-estar e saúde mentais; iv) a motivação e sensação de sucesso associados ao envolvimento e resultados dos estudantes e à comunicação aluno-professor. A investigação empírica baseia-se num inquérito online original aplicado aos professores do ensino médio e secundário em Portugal <<u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/> e <<u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en/></u> (versão de</u> demonstração em inglês). São recolhidas informações referentes a diferentes períodos e momentos: antes da pandemia e depois da pandemia; durante o primeiro e segundo encerramento das escolas (em 2020 e 2021) e no momento do inquérito. Os dados recolhidos (N=693) incluem informação sobre características e mudanças relativamente a: professores e agregados familiares; satisfação profissional e com a vida; stress e burnout; tempo de trabalho e funções docentes; relação trabalho-vida; objetivos, métodos e resultados do ensino; stress no trabalho; condições de trabalho para o teletrabalho; expectativas sobre o trabalho e métodos futuros de ensino. A metodologia de análise inclui estatística descritiva e análise qualitativa.

Os resultados mostram que a satisfação profissional dos professores diminuiu com a pandemia. O desempenho dos estudantes e o aumento da carga de trabalho dos professores aparentam ser os principais responsáveis por essa redução. Os níveis de stress e *burnout* dos professores também tiveram impacto negativo. Ao contrário da literatura geral sobre teletrabalho, os resultados da investigação não evidenciam que o ensino remoto não voluntário tenha diminuído o conflito trabalho-vida. Não ficou demonstrado que o *technostress* tivesse contribuído para a diminuição da satisfação no trabalho.

Palavras-chave: Ensino e aprendizagem on-line, Satisfação no trabalho, Conflito e equilíbrio entre trabalho e vida pessoal, Covid-19, Portugal.

Acknowledgements

Throughout the writing of this dissertation, I have received an amazing amount of support and assistance.

I would first like to thank my supervisor, Professora Elsa Fontainha, whose expertise was invaluable and whose patience was unmeasurable. Thank you for always encouraging me to do more and better and for letting me share this milestone. You have opened many doors for me and gave me the confidence to strive for an academic career and I hope to make you proud. I would of course like to thank all the teachers who took the time to answer the survey. Their answers, comments and emails of support were crucial to complete this thesis.

To my family, I thank for all the financial and emotional, support during this period. Without your hard-working mindset and the values that you passed on to me I would have never managed to complete this amazing feat. A special thank you to my mom and dad, I hope that I made you proud.

Finally, I would like to thank my partner, for always being there to support me throughout the most troubling and stressful parts of this process.

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

CNE	Conselho Nacional de Educação
Covid-19	Coronavirus disease 2019 (the same as SARS-Cov-2)
DGEEC	Direção-Geral de Estatísticas da Educação e Ciência
EACEA	European Education and Culture Executive Agency
Eurofound	European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions
ESS	European Social Survey
EU	European Union
ILO	International Labour Organization
JDI	Job Descriptive Index
JS	Job Satisfaction
JSS	Job Satisfaction Scale
LS	Life Satisfaction
MBI-HSS	Maslach Burnout Inventory
MOAQ-JSS	Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire Job Satisfaction Subscale
MSQ	Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PTSD	Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder
SARS-Cov-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2
TALIS	Teaching and Learning International Survey
TIMSS	Trends in International Mathematics and Science Study
WFH	Work from home

Table of Contents

CHAPTER I	1	
Introduction		1
CHAPTER II	3	
Literature Review		3
2.1. Job Satisfaction2.1.1. Concept and measures2.1.2. Teachers Job Satisfaction: A special case		3 3 4
 2.2. Impact of Covid-19 on Teachers' Job Satisfaction 2.2.1. Emergency online classes, sudden changes, and technostress 2.2.2. Work-Life Conflict and Balance during the Pandemic 2.2.3. Pandemic's impact on teachers' stress and burnout levels 2.2.4. Communication and Students' Performance 		5 6 8 9 11
CHAPTER III	12	
 Data Collection and Methodology of Analysis 3.1. "The effects of the pandemic on teaching activity": Survey Description 3.2. Methodology of Analysis 3.3. Main sample characteristics 		12 12 17 17
CHAPTER IV	18	
 Results and Discussion 4.1.1. Job Satisfaction 4.1.2. Adapting to the pandemic and the technostress and Hyp.1 4.1.3. Work Life Conflict and Balance and Hyp. 2 4.1.4. Stress and burnout and Hyp. 3 4.1.5. Teacher/Student communication and student performance and Hyp. 4 4.1.6. In their own words: What teachers say about teaching during the pandemic 		18 19 20 22 24 26 27
CHAPTER V	31	
Conclusions		31
Limitations and Future Research Avenues		33
REFERENCES	34	

APPENDICES	51
APPENDIX I- LITERATURE SUMMARY	51
APPENDIX II- FIGURES AND TABLES	53
53	

APPENDIX III- QUESTIONNAIRE ABOUT THE EFFECTS OF THE PANDEMIC ON TEACHING ACTIVITY 65

Figures and Tables

Figures

Figures in Main Text

Figure 1-Teacher Job Satisfaction. Antecedents Correlates and Consequences	6
Figure 2-Job Satisfaction (JS) before of pandemic and at the time of the survey (unidades %)	.20
Figure 3-Job Satisfaction (JS) and Life Satisfaction (LS) before of pandemic and at the time of the survey	′ by
gender (Mean values; Maximum=5 Minimum=1)	20
Figure 4- Distribution of weekly hours allocated to teaching activities before and after the pandemic, by	
gender (unit: %)	24

Figures in Appendices

Figure A.II.1- Distribution of answers for Questions "I felt satisfied with my teaching work / I feel satisfied
with my teaching work" Before the Pandemic and Now55
Figure A.II.2- Distribution of answers for Questions "I felt satisfied with life in general / I feel satisfied with
life in general" Before the Pandemic and Now
Figure A.II.3- Distribution of answers for Question "I easily adapted to distance learning" for 2020 and
2021
Figure A.II.4- Distribution of answers for Question "In general, my school colleagues easily adapted to
distance learning" for 2020 and 2021
Figure A.II.5- Distribution of answers for Question "With distance learning the teaching techniques, methods,
learning and assessment have been profoundly changed" for 2020 and 2021
Figure A.II.6- Distribution of answers for Question "Distance learning has enabled me to reconcile work with
family and personal life at home" for 2020 and 2021
Figure A.II.7- Distribution of answers for Question "Class preparation time has increased substantially due to
distance learning" for 2020 and 2021
Figure A.II.8- Distribution of answers for Question "Frequency with which your household uses external
support services for the caring of the elderly or minors", Before and After the Pandemic58
Figure A.II.9- Distribution of answers for Question "I was / am too tired after work to do things I liked when
at home.", Before the Pandemic and Now
Figure A.II.10- Distribution of answers for Question "Frequency with which household chores are shared in
a balanced way amongst the adults who make up your household.", Before the Pandemic and Now
Figure A.II.11- Distribution of answers for Question "Frequency with which the care for children and / or the
elderly is shared in a balanced way amongst the adults who make up your household.", Before the Pandemic
and Now
Figure A.II.12- Distribution of answers for Question "Work left/leaves me emotionally drained.", Before and
After the Pandemic
Figure A.II.13- Distribution of answers for Question "Overall, the environment and working conditions were
good.", Before and After the Pandemic61
Figure A.II.14- Distribution of answers for Question "I had access to the essential resources to teach at home.",
in 2020 (1 st school closure) and 2021(second school
closure)
Figure A.II.15- Distribution of answers for Question "I had / I have enough energy for family and friends
when in moments of leisure.", Before the Pandemic and Now
Figure A.II.16- Distribution of answers for Question "With distance learning, the preparation of students for
the assessment was adequate.", 2020 and 2021

Figure A.II.17- Distribution of answers for Question "Compared to face-to-face teaching,	distance learning
has hampered communication between teachers and students.", 2020 and 2021	63
Figure A.II.18- Distribution of answers for Question "Compared to face-to-face teaching,	distance learning
has enabled students to perform equally" 2020 and 2021	63
Figure A.II.19- Urgency Remote Teaching: Most Frequent Advantages by Gender	64
Figure A.II.20- Urgency Remote Teaching: Most Frequent Disadvantages by Gender	65

Tables

Tables in Main Text

Table I-Survey Questions and Hypotheses	15
Table I (cont.)- Survey Questions and Hypotheses.	
Table II-Sample composition (N=693)	
Table III-Coping with changes; first and second school closure	22
Table IV-Teachers' work organization before and after pandemic	24
Table V- Questions associated to mental health (mean, median and SD), Before Pandemic and at th	e time of
the survey ('Now')	26
Table VI-Effect of urgency remote teaching on students learning and performance (first and secon closure)	

Table in Appendices

Table A.II.1- Subjects taught 2019/2020 and 2020/2021

Chapter I

Introduction

We find ourselves in what seems to be a different world from the one we lived in before the Covid-19 pandemic. In most countries, lockdowns were put into place, so that we could avoid an extreme pressure on health systems and, as a corollary, save as many lives as possible (Acemoglu et al. 2020; Brodeur et al., 2021; Vindegaard & Benros, 2020). This pandemic has had clear detrimental effects on job satisfaction and has contributed to peoples' exposure to extreme stress and consequently to the development of mental illnesses (Clemente-Suárez et al. ,2020; Hamermesh, 2020) that are job-related such as the burnout syndrome (Galea, Merchant & Lurie, 2020). In many cases, working from home has been the newfound solution to battle against the fast-spreading virus.

During the Covid-19 pandemic, with the school closures and the emergency remote online teaching was a challenge for schools, teachers, students, and parents (OECD, 2020 and 2021a; Schleicher, 2020), and directly influenced some facets of Job Satisfaction (JS). Job satisfaction is the enjoyment and a positive attitude towards one's job (Locke, 1976). It is therefore, extremely related to an individual's success in his/her work (Eichinger et al, 1991). The impact was felt on teacher's JS, enlarging, and changing the content and scale of the antecedents, correlates and consequences of teachers' JS compared with the situation before pandemic (Klassen & Chiu (2010). Teachers, for some labelled as "the forgotten frontline workers of Covid-19" (Beames et al. 2021), had substantial and sudden changes in job content and social and organizational supports. The school closures and the consequent urgency remote teaching imposed by pandemic, had tested the teachers' ability to adapt to the new work forms (Aujayeb & Wakefield 2020), contributing to job dissatisfaction (Ozgür, 2020).

The COVID-19 pandemic, in its multiple impacts, exacerbated pre-existing inequalities in several domains: in income and employment, in education, in the family and in health. Inequalities (e.g., economic, and social, educational, age, gender. occupations and geographic) have worsened in the short term and are likely to persist in the future (Blundell et al., 2020; Galasso et al. 2020). There is abundant literature showing that Covid-19 pandemic has not affected everyone equally, increasing disparities and inequalities around the world (Acemoglu et al. 2020; Alon et al., 2020; Aucejo et al., 2020; Connor et al., 2020; Kraft & Simon, 2020; Galasso et al., 2020).

The main aim of this research is to examine the pandemic's effect on job satisfaction (JS) amongst teachers. Based on the literature, and to examine the pandemic's effect, four explanatory hypotheses will be presented, empirically tested, and discussed in relation to teachers' JS: (i) The possible emergence of technostress with the emergency remote teaching, and due to the lack of preparedness and training for the sudden changes in methods, equipment, and software (Beames et. al., 2021; Carrillo & Flores, 2020; Ziebell et al., 2020); (ii) the worsening of the work-life conflict due to the increase of work overload and the constant availability technology brought (Bonacini, L., Gallo, G. & Scicchitano, S., 2020; OECD, 2020 & 2021b; Schleicher 2020; Suh & Lee, 2017), (iii) the increase in stress and burnout levels for teachers due to an increasing workload and more difficulties when it came to reorganizing life and their work routines (Eurydice Report, 2021; Kraft et al., 2020; (iv) and, finally, the decrease in the motivation and the feeling of success regarding students' performance (Baert et al., 2020a; Kraft, Simon & Lyon, 2020; Jelińska & Paradowski, 2020; Pokhrel & Chetri, 2021y). These four hypotheses will be empirically tested using data collected by an original online survey applied to Portuguese teachers: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity [*Questionário sobre os Efeitos da Pandemia na Atividade Docente*]. The results of the survey shed some light on the knowledge and understanding of the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on teaching activity.

The JS's antecedents to be studied include demographics, experiences in schools and classes before and after the pandemic as well as during the first and the second school closures, new job skills demand and teaching content, changes of teaching and learning environment, self-evaluation and self-efficacy, work-life conflict and other stressors, social and organizational support (Bowling & Hammond, 2008; Klassen & Chiu, 2010). The JS's correlates comprise strains like emotional exhaustion, job tension, depression, stress, burnout, and life satisfaction (Bowling & Hammond, 2008; Enzmann, D. et al., 1998; Klassen & Chiu, 2010; Panagioti, et al., 2018; Serrão et al., 2021).

After this brief Introduction the dissertation is divided into four chapters. In *Chapter II*, the main theoretical foundations and literature review associated to JS, technostress, work-life conflict, stress and burnout and teacher's sense of success and motivation are presented. It therefore also presents the four hypotheses elaborated for the purpose of the study. *Chapter III* presents the research design and the survey's composition. The methodological strategies of analysis, the characterisation of the survey and its questions and of the sample are made as well.

In *Chapter IV*, the results of the study are presented and discussed using quantitative and qualitative perspectives. The last chapter, *Chapter V*, presents the main conclusions and some limitations and proposals for future research.

Chapter II

Literature Review

2.1. Job Satisfaction

2.1.1. Concept and measures

Concepts, individual factors, and gender

Job Satisfaction (JS) can be defined as "a pleasurable or positive emotional state resulting from the appraisal of one's job or job experiences" (Locke, 1976, p. 1304). Job Satisfaction is a multidimensional concept (Li, Deng & Huang, 2019). Job Satisfaction related to an individual's success in his/her work (Eichinger, Heifetz & Ingraham, 1991). Life Satisfaction (LS) is strongly associated to Job Satisfaction, since it stands for the overall happiness of an individual with their lives in general and that an individual's job plays a big role in ones' life (Judge et al., 2001; Judge & Watanabe, 1993).

There are different facets of JS (e.g., work content itself, wages, career opportunities, management, colleagues) and scales to measure it (Bowling & Hammond, 2008; Milbourn & Dunn, 1976). Job Satisfaction can also be linked to the way an organization performs, absenteeism, turnover (Bowling et al., 2018; Bowling & Hammond, 2008) and with the ability of work-life balance (Bruck, Allen & Spector, 2002). Stress is also directly associated to JS and productivity, although it being a negative correlation (Atmaca, Ç., et al., 2020; Eichinger, Heifetz & Ingraham, 1991; Tarafdar, Pullins & Ragu-Nathan, 2015).

Hoppock (1936) was one of the first scholars to pinpoint employees' both physical and psychological antecedents as crucial for JS. Later, Schaffer (1953) also believes that a higher JS is strongly linked to individual factors. Some of the antecedents or causes of JS can be individual's values, perceptions, expectations or even characteristics (Hackman & Oldham, 1975). Bowling and Hammond (2008) indicate job characteristics as an important explanatory factor ('antecedent') of JS since these allow the worker to establish the expectations and thoughts on his or her task. Working time and work travel time was also noted as a direct influence on JS (Glass & Fujimoto, 1994).

In what concern the differences of JS by gender, most studies show that women having professional activities, in general, have a lower level of stress and burnout, more satisfaction in work, and sense of self-realisation overall, when they have no small kids (Eichinger, Heifetz & Ingraham, 1991; Nomaguchi & Bianchi, 2004). Role overload and work-life conflict may also be two important factors when it comes to stress, depression,

and burnout syndrome amongst women (Glass & Fujimoto, 1994; Kristensen et al., 2005). As the Equity Theory states (Schafer & Keith, 1980), when people find themselves in an unequal situation, at work or simply at a personal level, they tend to get frustrated and have higher levels of stress and dissatisfaction (Falcão Casaca, 2002).

Measures and scales

Most scales and measurement tools for JS consist in numerous questions that aim to conclude whether the respondent felt that his or her JS was influenced and if so, by what. Spector's (1985) Job Satisfaction Scale tackled nine facets of job satisfaction: Communication; Supervision; Fringe Benefits; Contingent Rewards; Operating Procedures; Nature of Work; Pay; Promotion and Co-workers with four items each. Beehr et al.'s (2006) Facet Satisfaction Scale measured satisfaction through a questionnaire that focused on five satisfaction facets; work itself; supervision; co-workers; pay; and career opportunities.

However, since this study's objective was extremely broad, it was decided that JS would be measured through a single self-evaluating question: "*I felt satisfied with my teaching work [Before pandemic]/ I feel satisfied with my teaching work [at the moment of the Survey]*". There is also a question (Question 4 of the survey, see Annex V) dedicated to Life Satisfaction (LS) that allows the study about how LS interrelates with JS.

There are some examples of scales that similarly choose to measure JS with a single question, like for instance the European Social Survey (ESS, n.d.), and LS as well, like the US Bureau of Labour Statistics/US Census (2020a, b). Nevertheless, more detailed, and extensive scales were consulted to elaborate the original Survey presented in Chapter III. The Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire Job Satisfaction Subscale (MOAQ-JSS), which differs from for example the Job Descriptive Index (JDI) due to it's more general approach to JS, also supported questions on original survey created for this research (e.g. "All in all, I am satisfied with my job" "In general, I don't like my job."). Similarly, the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire MSQ (Weiss et al., 1967) suggests the work conditions as an important question to add, which was also sustained by Kraft et al.'s (2020) study that concluded that good and supportive working conditions influenced teachers' sense of success.

2.1.2. Teachers Job Satisfaction: A special case

Teachers' JS has much to do with the level in which students are engaged in classes, in other words, their success in teaching. The concept of success, however, can have a different meaning depending on each person (Hoppock, 1937). According to the Social Exchange Theory (Blau, 1964), the relationship between teachers

and students is unbalanced. This theory argues that whilst analysing peoples' relationships, one must take into consideration the investments and the results pertaining that very relationship dynamic.

Teachers' JS is different from other occupations because it depends on teachers' individual characteristics (e.g., gender, age), teachers' experience in school (e.g., tenure, grade levels taught), teachers' stress (workload stress), and teachers' self-efficacy (Ainley & Carstens, 2018; Klassen & Chiu 2010). According to Bandura's (1986) Social Cognitive Theory, self-efficacy is the role of self-reflective and cognitive processes in behavioural adaptation, which is influenced by environmental, behavioural, and personal aspects (Wood & Bandura, 1989). Teacher self-efficacy is related to educational strategies and class management and strongly associated to student engagement. Perera and John (2020) conclude with their study, for instance, that teachers' self-efficacy is directly and indirectly associated to the students' engagement and classroom interaction, students' results, and job satisfaction. The way students behave has, therefore, a big influence in how teachers react to their jobs and find themselves to be successful. Misbehaviour can be loud noises, aggression, cheating and use of mobile devices, which in term can have negative effects on teachers' success and consequently on their job satisfaction. The environment to which the teachers belong to also matters, since having a bad school climate will lead to frustrations and dissatisfaction. (Kengatharan, N., 2019). They do not only have to have extreme knowledge on the subject they teach, but they also must have empathy and have certain psychological skills which allow them to deal with young students (Mahmoodi-Shahrebabaki, 2020).

2.2. Impact of Covid-19 on Teachers' Job Satisfaction

The Covid-19 pandemic and associated school closures with emergency remote online teaching was a challenge for schools, teachers, students, and parents (OECD, 2020 and 2021; Schleicher, 2020), and directly influenced some facets of JS. The impact was felt on teacher's JS and many aspects of their lives. Figure 1 is adapted from Klassen and Chiu (2010, p.743) and Bowling & Hammond (2008, p. 65) to the Covid-19 pandemic, which illustrates the different factors that can influence directly or indirectly Teacher's JS and JS overall: demographics of schools, teachers, and households; teacher experience in school and in remote online teaching during school closures ('antecedents'); teacher stressors namely technostress; and teacher self-efficacy ('correlates').

Regarding the individual factor of gender, some literature points out a gender gap when analysing the several facets within JS (Feng & Savani, 2020). This gap is expected due to women being normally perceived as the main caregiver (Connor et al., 2020), which is sustained by the Gender Role theory (Eichinger, Heifetz & Ingraham, 1991), and the tendency for them to have more household responsibilities than men (Carli, 2020; Goldin, 2014). Therefore, it is expected that during the pandemic due to school closures, as well as childcare and home services closing (Carli, 2020; Connor et al., 2020; Del Boca et al., 2020; Shek, 2021), may resulted

in a overburdening for women (Carli, 2020). There is much evidence that supports the gender gap claims: differences in wages (Eurofound, 2021; Warr, 1987); fewer career options and less representation in top management (Judge et al., 2001). There are, however, some studies that argue that there is no gender gap in JS (Aryee et al., 2005; Feng & Savani, 2020; Redmond & McGuinness, 2019), which would suggest that women could have still managed to be satisfied with their own job, despite having lower wages and less career opportunities as well as additional nonpaid work at home (e.g., care of children and elderly, domestic chores) (Borah-Hazarika & Das, 2021).

This literature review is organised in accordance with 4 main hypotheses explaining teacher JS impacted by pandemic (see Table A.I.1). Different strands of literature are relevant to this research: management and organization of human resources; psychology; sciences of education; gender studies and the growing strand of the impact of pandemic in general.



Figure 1-Teacher Job Satisfaction. Antecedents Correlates and Consequences

Source: Author's construction adapted from Bowling & Hammond (2008) p. 65 and Klassen & Chiu (2010), p. 743.

2.2.1. Emergency online classes, sudden changes, and technostress

In Portugal, the first school closure associated with the pandemic was announced on the 16th of March 2020 and was imposed until the 16th of September 2020 March, while the second one was imposed on the 15th of January until the 5th of April. In a matter of days, teaching and learning moved from being in-person to a remote format according to OECD (2021b) when we exclude all of the bank days and school vacations from

the first to the second lockdown, schools were closed during a total of 69 days for pre-primary schools (44 days in the first lockdown and 25 on the second one), primary schools were closed 87 days, the 2nd and 3rd cycle were closed 97 days and finally the high-school were closed 92 day.

As in Portugal, across the world, most schools had little time to prepare for teaching online, which overloaded and overburdened teachers, 'the forgotten frontline' (Beames et. al., 2021) and parents, creating stress and frustration, since the implementation of online teaching requires training and demands a positive attitude regarding the changes in the learning process (Blasko, 2020; Boelens et al., 2017; Carrillo & Flores, 2020; Ziebell et al., 2020). Portugal had very low percentages of telework pre-Covid (Boavida & Brandão Moniz, 2020a,b). This drastic change proved necessary so that teachers can reach out to students (Dong et al., 2019). During the first school closures there was a lack of preparedness of the different participants in remote teaching and learning (e.g., low level of digital skills) and a shortage of infrastructures and resources (e.g., equipment, software, fast Internet connection) in schools and at teachers' and students' homes.

The lack of support within the organization and the shortcomings of teachers' abilities can easily predict the emergence of technolostress (Dong et al., 2019). Technostress can be defined by a type of stress related to the intense use of technology and the inability for one to adapt to the constant changes in technology. The exponential growth of dependency in technologies in all aspects of life leads to negative psychological impacts (Al-Fudail, M. & Mellar, H., 2007; Tarafdar, M., Pullins, E.B. & Ragu-Nathan, T.S., 2015). According to Kersh (2018), this type of stress affects family and personal time due to inability to unplug and it contributes to excessive working hours, which in turn can lead to a decline in productivity on the long term (Greenglass, Burke & Konarski 1998). Having an unsupportive environment when it comes to adapting to new technologies can add to the difficulty of adapting (Dong et al., 2019).

Depending on personal characteristics, teachers adopt different coping strategies to deal with their stress, frustration, and other mental illnesses (Al-Fudail & Mellar, 2007; Dong et al., 2019; Kyriacou & Sutcliffe, 1978). Age is one of those characteristics. Being older can contribute to a higher amount of technostress since it is more difficulty to keep up with new technologies (Ozgür, 2020). since older workers can have more difficulty in being able to adapt to the constant change and evolution of technology (Özgür, 2020). Raišiene et al's. (2020) suggestion, regarding Working from Home (WFH), is that older generations tend to normally have less interest and overall liking for telework. Some scholars also associate WFH to higher technostress levels amongst older individuals (Ozgür, 2020).

Based on the literature the following hypothesis is formulated

Hypothesis 1: *The Covid-19 pandemic greatly influenced teacher's level of technostress, due to the abrupt changes that resulted from emergency remote teaching.*

2.2.2. Work-Life Conflict and Balance during the Pandemic

The work-life conflict is possibly one of the most intricate problems that an individual must face. As a concept, it can be explained as the lack of balance and boundaries between work and personal and familiar life, and it is highly associated to poor physical health, as well as stress, anxiety, depression, and a higher tendency for burnout (Ahuja et al., 2007; Schieman et al., 2021). Work-Life balance is therefore the contrary, namely, it is when the individual can equally balance both the work sphere and the life sphere (French et al., 2020). When it comes to working from home it is frequenty seen as a viable solution for a good work-life balance, since it allows the worker to divide their work and their household responsibilities more easily and effectively (Angelici & Profeta, 2020; Blaskó, 2020; Hayes et al., 2020; Nomaguchi & Bianchi, 2004). However, it can also contribute to a work-life conflict (Suh & Lee, 2017), since technology allows workers to be constantly available (Bonacini,, Gallo. & Scicchitano, S., 2020; Molino et al., 2020), which can lead to a work-overload (Moscardó et al., 2020; Suh & Lee, 2017). With Covid-19 and during the lockdowns and with the general closure of schools, parents experienced more issues when it came to combining their own work at home with childcare. The potential beneficial aspects of telework will easily disappear if childcare services and schools remain closed. Plus, the division of household chores amongst women and men grows unequal, which can be a dangerous factor for a gender gap in mental health consequences and work overload (Arntz, Yahmed & Berlingieri, 2020; Blaskó, 2020; Feng & Savani, 2020).

The pandemic is not gender neutral affecting more women than men because women tend to have more household responsibilities. The EU reports mention a worsening of the preconceived gender biased stereotypes, which means, the idea that women and men are assigned different roles in society, which in turn can limit their lives (Sevilla, 2020). This influences the way women are perceived at work and are influenced by the pandemic itself, since women's jobs were strongly and negatively impacted, due to the overrepresentation on lower paid jobs, which most could not be done remotely. As a direct consequence, the social exclusion and danger to fall into poverty increased for women (Blasko et al., 2020). Their experience with remote work will be different from the men's experience (Blasko et al., 2020; Carli, 2020; European Comission, 2021b; Profeta et al., 2020; Shek, 2021), therefore, the consequences of Covid-19 on women will also be different and will challenge gender equality (Eurofound, 2021; European Commission 2021a, 2021c). Regarding the work-life conflict and balance, the EU's report concluded that 29% of women with smaller children found it difficult to concentrate while working and in balancing their domestic chores and personal lives with work and about 16% of the men in the same situation reported the same difficulties. Families with children especially have suffered through major changes on their day to day lives, mostly due to school closures, as well as childcare and home services closing, which called for parents to be able to help their children at home and resulted in a bigger burden for working parents, in particular working mothers and working individuals in general (Borah-Hazarika & Das, 2021; Carli, 2020; Connor et al., 2020; Del Boca et al., 2020 a,2020 b; Shek, 2021).

Raišienė et al. (2020), for example, used a short online survey to understand the negative and positive factors that influenced telework, concluding that it exists a difference by gender. Women, for instance, appear to see telework as an advantage due to the possibility to work on their own terms and improved their time management skills and communication.

Based on the literature the following hypothesis is formulated

Hypothesis 2: Covid-19 pandemic with mandatory lockdown and emergency remote teaching worsened the teacher's work-life conflict and consequently negatively affected the work-life balance.

2.2.3. Pandemic's impact on teachers' stress and burnout levels

Mental well-being and health have been extremely affected by the pandemic (Passos et al., 2020; Restauri & Sheridan, 2020). It is without a doubt, an example of a traumatic event, which can eventually lead to symptoms of Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD), acute stress (Galea, Merchant & Lurie, 2020; Restauri & Sheridan, 2020; Soklaridis et al., 2020), increases in domestic violence, substance abuse, depression, anxiety, suicide tendencies and overall mental health problems (Galea, Merchant & Lurie, 2020).

Stress can have extreme physical or/and mental consequences on people, even more in working individuals. The characteristics of the job itself and the individual's characteristics can directly influence the levels of stress an individual has (Restauri & Sheridan, 2020). Burnout, on the other hand, is, according to the Oxford dictionary, defined by "the state of being extremely tired or ill, either physically or mentally, because you have worked too hard" (Oxford Dictionay). It is multidimensional syndrome (Maslach, 1993) that stems from too much work-related stress, or occupational stress (Marôco, J., et al., 2016; Maslach & Jackson, 1986; Maslach et al., 1986). According to Restauri and Sheridan (2020), burnout may occur due to lack of control at work, excess of working hours, prolonged stress, and a lack of balance between the job's demand and the worker's skills. Human service professionals and professions, such as teaching, have a higher risk for occupational stress and burnout syndrome (Carlotto et al., 2014). For the teacher's profession, all the above-mentioned mental health problems are an issue (García-Carmona et al., 2019). Teachers assimilate several important roles in their students' lives, hence their importance and the high level of responsibility relied upon them (Carlotto et al., 2014). Whenever a teacher feels like his or her method of teaching is failing, and that feeling persists, it results on high irritability, anxiety, tension, and stress (Carlotto, 2011; Correia, Gomes &

Moreira, 2010). If there is a feeling of inequality between the effort put into teaching and its outcomes, there is a good chance of that said teacher feeling distressed (Van Horn, Schaufeli & Enzmann, 1999).

According to Van Horn et al. (1999), teachers' burnout begins with the feeling of lack of reciprocity from students and less involvement and commitment from their part. The teachers in these situations still invest time and effort but in turn obtain weak results, therefore, three dimensions are influenced: the teacher's satisfaction, the student's learning, and the overall school environment.

As stated previously (see 2.2.1), during the Covid-19 pandemic, teachers were subjected to new ways of stress, such as technostress. The sense of frustration and lack of success was exacerbated during the pandemic, and whenever a teacher feels like his or her method of teaching is failing, and that feeling persists, it can result on high irritability, anxiety, tension, and stress (Carlotto, 2011; Carlotto et al., 2014; Correia, Gomes & Moreira, 2010; Kengatharan, 2019).

Much like the results of lack of reciprocity, the lack of ability to adapt to new difficulties can lead to higher levels of anxiety, fatigue and even inefficacy (Arnetz & Wiholm, 1997; Seidman & Zager, 1991), which in the long-term can result in those teachers' feeling disconnected from their job. For instance, Lazarus and Folkman's (1984) Transactional Theory put forward the idea that stress will always present itself if the environmental demands surrounding the worker surpass his or her ability to respond. Teachers are not only pressured by their schools to correctly deliver, but also by their own colleagues (Voet & De Wever, 2017).

Among these mental health disorders there are pathologies with similar consequences but the reason why they come to be different. For example, depression is different from burnout, even though both illnesses share some similar consequences, such as exhaustion, emotional distancing, and irritability (Belcastro, 1982; Warr, 1987). Depression is less circumstantial than burnout. While depression is more associated with individual and personal factors, burnout is exclusively linked to work and occupational stress (Greenglass, Burke & Konarski, 1998; Marôco et al., 2016; Maslach et al., 1986; Serrão et al., 2021;). Most people who suffer from burnout can still be happy and balanced in other aspects of life. For instance, Perlman and Hartman (1981) found that burnout is not identical to job dissatisfaction, however, age and workload seem to be key influence factors for both.

The increase of working hours due to the inability to adapt to the new technologies and difficulty in unplugging from work leads to more pressure when it comes to time management and paperwork (Correia, Gomes & Moreira, 2010; Tarafdar et al., 2015). Burnout in teachers begins with this feeling of lack of reciprocity from students, which leads to wanting to be less involved and committed (Van Horn, Schaufeli, & Enzmann, 1999). When it comes to gender differences, some argue that the Covid-19 pandemic may have also aggravated the number of cases of burnout syndrome (Galea, Merchant & Lurie, 2020; Hayes et al., 2020; Xiong et al., 2020). Kessler & McRae (1982) reason that there can be an association between high levels of stress and women

especially women with children. It is certain that the age of these children also influences the amount of stress women go through. As a result, countless mental health issues may arise in the short and long run due to the increase of parental stress (Allen, 2020). Evidence exists that the pandemic also increased men's non-paid work at home, but women are still the main responsible for it. For this reason, women may have been a target of higher stress levels and eventually mental health issues (Violant-Holz et al., 2020).

In addition to the usual and normal work-related stress factors, the fear of being infected and having to distance themselves from their own families added to the issue (Alon et al., 2020; Del Boca et al., 2020; Restauri & Sheridan, 2020).

Based on the literature the following hypothesis is formulated

Hypothesis 3: Covid-19 pandemic contributed to the increase on teachers' levels of stress and burnout. Strains (job tension), job attitudes and life satisfaction are negatively impacted.

2.2.4. Communication and Students' Performance

As referred in point 2.1.2., teacher self-efficacy is strongly associated to student engagement and can be measured through the individual's perception regarding the achievement of their goals, their performance and effectiveness (Bandura, 1986; Wood & Bandura, 1989). This measurement, however, is not made in the survey elaborated, but instead, three questions on student performance and behaviour are conducted, that help to understand JS due to nature of a teachers work and motivation Teachers consider that they perform important roles in students' lives and no normal balance exists in teacher-student social exchange. Consequently, when there is no reciprocity, teachers may feel emotional frustration, stress, mental illness, and burnout (Farber, 1991; Hoppock, R., 1937; Kengatharan, 2020; Van Horn et. al., 1999). If the teacher feels as if his or her work is having a good outcome, he or she is satisfied. The way students behave has, therefore, a great influence in how teachers react to their jobs and find themselves to be successful. Misbehaviour can be perceived as loud noises, aggression, cheating and use of mobile devices, which in turn can have negative effects on teachers' success and consequently on their JS. The environment to which the teachers belong to also matters, since having a bad school climate will lead to frustrations and dissatisfaction (Kengatharan, 2020).

There is a multitude of issues, however, when it comes to online schooling, since some students may not have access to the technology needed, which results in a digital divide (Bacher-Hicks, Goodman & Mulhern, 2021). The changes made in the assessment methods require new skills from students and teachers (Orlov et al., 2020) and since most schools had little time to prepare to teach and learn online, teachers, parents and students were overloaded and overburdened. Solutions had to be found so that every student could participate in the

online lessons and teachers had to now adapt all their classes to an online platform. The changes made in the assessment were also extremely complicated, since these students were being evaluated on different things than previous years (Orlov et al., 2020) Many students during the lockdown experienced a lack of productivity and therefore got more frustration and stressed. Teaching became more impersonal, since there ceased to be personal and direct contact amongst students and teachers, which in turn decreased the student's engagement and teacher's sense of self-efficacy and coping abilities (Jelińska & Paradowski, 2020; PytlikZillig et al., 2011).

Based on the literature the following hypothesis is formulated

Hypothesis 4: Covid-19 pandemic negatively affected teachers' motivation and sense of success levels and these are strongly associated to student engagement, student-teacher communication, and related environment. Consequently, there is a sense of frustration for teachers and their JS decreases.

Chapter III

Data Collection and Methodology of Analysis

3.1. "The effects of the pandemic on teaching activity": Survey Description

An original online survey "The Effects of the pandemic on teaching activity" [*Os efeitos da pandemia na atividade docente*] was targeted to teachers who teach students at middle and upper secondary level of education (International Standard Classification of Education levels ISCED 2 and ISCED 3). Students age for the two ISCED levels is approximately between 12-18 years old. The survey was distributed by email amongst Portuguese public high-school teachers through an Internet domain, created specifically for that aim. The survey was previously tested, and accordingly amended. The online survey was strictly anonymous and was completely voluntary. The data is used for research purposes only. After answering, some teachers asked by email for access to results after the survey was completed.

A Portuguese and an English version were created (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). The Portuguese version (Appendix III and on link https://www.c19profsurvey.com) was the only one to be distributed. Data was collected between June and July 2021. The English demo version is available in https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en/ (Pato & Fontainha, 2021b). The main objective, as stated before, was to

collect data to study how the pandemic changed facets of teachers' jobs and influenced their way of teaching, as well as their overall satisfaction in teaching.

Four moments in time were taken into consideration whilst conducting and elaborating the survey: the period before the Covid-19 pandemic; the 1st school closure in 2020 (16th Mar - 4th Apr); the 2nd school closure in 2021 (8th Feb - 19th Apr); and the time when the survey is answered (June-July 2021). A five-point Likert scale (1= 'Completely disagree'; 2='Disagree'; 3= 'Neither agree nor disagree'; 4='Agree'; 5='Strongly Agree') and a three-point Likert scale (1=Frequent; 2=Seldom; 3= Never) are the main scales used to respond to the survey.

The survey includes five blocks of questions corresponding to different kind of information:

- *Profile of the respondent and her/his household*. Teacher and teacher household characteristics and changes in these with pandemic.
- Changes associated with the first and second school closure. Teacher's opinion on emergency remote teaching in relation to two periods when mandatory online classes took place, the first period (16 March 2020 to 4 April 2020) and the second (8th of February 2021 to the 19th of April 2021) and the Changes it brought regarding JS, LS, methods, and equipment, work-life conflict and balance, Stress and burnout and teachers' motivation and sense of success (H4)
- Activity changes with pandemic. Teacher's time allocation and activity organization in relation to several aspects about the pre-pandemic situation (before March 2020) and what changed (or not) after the pandemic.
- Advantages and disadvantages of emergency remote online teaching (closed and open questions).
- *Teachers' Perspective on the Future:* Their perspective on the consequences of the pandemic on the profession and opinions about the future

The questions in the survey are based on previous studies and reports general or specific for teachers, the main ones were:

- Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire Job Satisfaction Subscale (MOAQ-JSS) (Bowling & Hammond, 2008, p.64):
 - "All in all, I am satisfied with my job"
 - o "In general, I don't like my job."
 - 'In general, I like working here.".
- The Copenhagen Burnout Inventory (Kristensen, et al., 2007, p.200)

- "Do you have enough energy for family and friends during leisure time?"
- "How often are you emotionally exhausted"
- Maslach Burnout Inventory Human Services Survey (MBI-HSS) (Maslach et al., 1996):
 - " My work leaves me emotionally drained"
- *European Social Survey* (ESS6, 2012):
 - "How satisfied are you with the balance between the time you spend on your paid work and the time you spend on other aspects of your life?"
 - "All things considered, how satisfied are you with your present job? All things considered, how satisfied are you with your present job?"
 - o "Using this card, please tell me how much of the time during the past week you enjoyed life?"
 - o "All things considered, how satisfied are you with your life as a whole nowadays?"
 - "How satisfied are you with how your life has turned out so far/ with your present standard of living?"
 - "Please tell me how much of the time during the past week you were absorbed in what you were doing"
- European Social Survey (ESS, n.d.):
 - "Find that your family responsibilities prevent you from giving the time you should to your job?
 - "Too tired after work to enjoy the things you would like to do at home; keep worrying about work problems when you are not working?"
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015):
 - "Please imagine a ladder with steps numbered from zero at the bottom to ten at the top. The top of the ladder represents the best possible life for you and the bottom of the ladder represents the worst possible life for you. If the top step is 10 and the bottom step is 0, on which step of the ladder do you feel you personally stand at the present time?" (Alternative answers: 1....10)
- *Remote Teaching Survey* (Kraft et al., 2020)
 - "I am comfortable using the technological tools required for remote teaching during this distance learning period."
 - Student's Performance: "What percent of your students are regularly engaging in learning activities during this distance learning period?"
 - Work-Life Conflict/ Balance: "I have been able to balance my work with my other responsibilities at home during this distance learning period." "Caretaking responsibilities for

children and/or dependent adults have made it difficult to do my job during this distance learning period."

- Australian Education Survey (Ziebell et al., 2020; note: the survey questions were not published):
 - Students Preparedness
 - Work hours
 - \circ Communication

Two questions were posed regarding teachers' JS and LS, before and after the pandemic, at the time of the survey (Appendix III):

- I felt satisfied with my teaching work / I feel satisfied with my teaching work
- I felt satisfied with life in general / I feel satisfied with life in general

Hypotheses	Survey Questions		
<i>Technostress and adaptation</i> The Covid-19 pandemic greatly influenced teacher's level of technostress, due to the abrupt changes that resulted from emergency remote teaching.	I easily adapted to distance learning (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure)- 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)		
	With distance learning the teaching techniques, methods, learning and assessment have been profoundly changed (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)		
	Overall, the working environment and conditions were/are good (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)		
	In general, my school colleagues adapted easily to distance learning (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)		
	I had access to the essential resources for teaching at home (computers, internet connection, physical space) (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)		

Table I-Survey Questions and Hypotheses

Table I (cont.) -Survey Questions and Hypotheses

Hypotheses	Survey Questions
<i>Work-Life Conflict and Balance</i> Covid-19 pandemic with	Distance learning has enabled me to reconcile work with family and personal life at home (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)
mandatory lockdown and emergency remote teaching worsened the teacher's work-life conflict and consequently	Possibility of balancing work time and personal and / or family time (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 3 points Likert scale (Frequent; Seldom; Never)
negatively affected the work-life balance.	Family responsibilities prevent you from dedicating the time you should to your work (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 3 points Likert scale (Frequent; Seldom; Never)
	Work during the weekend (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 3 points Likert scale (Frequent; Seldom; Never)
	Work during nights (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 3 Likert scale (Frequent; Seldom; Never) Effective teaching time per week (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 5 options (<35h; =35h; 36h-40h; 41h-45h; >45h)
	Frequency with which household chores are shared in a balanced way between the adults in your household (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) - 3 points Likert scale (Frequent; Seldom; Never)
<i>Mental well-being</i> Covid-19 pandemic contributed to the increase on teachers' levels of stress and burnout. Strains (job tension), job attitudes and life satisfaction are negatively impacted.	I had / I have enough energy for family and friends when in moments of leisure (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) – 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)
	I was / am too tired after work to do things I liked when at home (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) – 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)
	Work left me / leaves me emotionally drained (two periods: 1 st and 2 nd school closure) – 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)
Motivation, Communication and Students' Performance	Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has made communication between teachers and students more difficult– 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)
Covid-19 pandemic negatively affected teachers' motivation and sense of success levels and these are strongly associated to student engagement, student-teacher	With remote teaching the preparation of the students for the assessment tests (school and national examinations) was adequate– 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)
communication, and related environment. Consequently, there is a sense of frustration for teachers and their JS decreases.	Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has enabled students to perform equally– 5 points Likert scale (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree; 3=I neither agree nor disagree; 4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree)

Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b).

3.2. Methodology of Analysis

Both quantitative and qualitative research methods were used. After presenting the survey and the characteristics of the sample, the results about JS before and after pandemic show a clear decrease of JS as well as in Life Satisfaction (LS). Moreover, phenomena associated to the four hypotheses formulated before, are described to test the possible association with JS. As stated previously, the main goal is to conclude whether teachers felt a decrease in JS and in their overall satisfaction during the pandemic, and whether there were any differences when comparing both lockdowns and other individual characteristics. For the open questions (e.g., about advantages and disadvantages of remote teaching), a coding of the responses was conducted. Finally, based on the comments received in the open questions a qualitative analysis of content is presented.

3.3. Main sample characteristics

The sample characteristics is presented in Table II. Overall, 693 valid questionnaires were collected. Most of the respondents are women (75%), reflecting a dominance of females in the teaching profession in Portugal, similarly to most of the countries (Conselho Nacional de Educação 2021, Alves, Lopes & Precioso, 2021; Dong et al., 2019; Ozgür, 2020). Regarding the age groups of the sample, most of the sample is composed of teachers aged between 45 and 64 years old. The age group with 45 years or more makes up for 85% of all the sample, which goes along with the evidence from the teachers in Europe (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice 2021a and 2021b) and, for the Portuguese case in specific, the "Perfil do Docente" (Direcção Geral de Estatísticas da Educação e Ciência/ DGEEC, 2021) and Conselho Nacional de Educação, 2021). According to Eurydice (2021) 40 % to 50 % of all teachers in Portugal will be retired in 15 years. The most relevant group when it came to the number of years the teachers taught was the "20 or more years" group (82%). When it comes to the Household size the mean is 2.98 members.

Concerning the contact each teacher had with Covid-19, 37% had contact through students or colleagues of their school and only 7% of the respondents pointed out they themselves were infected¹.

¹ The data not presented. Available on request.

		Total	Men	Women
Gender (%)	Man	5.2		
	Woman	74.8		
Age Group (%)	20-24 years	0.3	0.6	0.4
	25-34 years	1.0	2.4	0.6
	35-44 years	13.7	13.5	14.1
	45-54 years	42.1	42.4	41.9
	55-64 years	39.2	37.6	40.3
	65 years and over	3.2	3.5	2.8
Teaching Experience (%)	5 years or less	2.5	4.7	1.6
	6-10 years	2.0	1.8	2.2
	11-19 years	13.3	12.4	12.9
	20 years and over	82.3	81.2	83.3
Household Size (mean)		2.98	3.04	2.96

Table II-Sample composition (N=693)

Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b).

Regarding the subjects taught in both 2019/2020 and 2020/2021 (Table A.II.1), the most predominant group were the Language Teachers (24%; 27%), followed by the Sciences (20%; 21%), Social Sciences (19%; 12%) and Mathematics (10%; 11%). This converges with the national distribution by teaching domains reported in Conselho Nacional de Educação NE (2021).

Chapter IV

Results and Discussion

We will present an overview of teachers' opinions, perceptions and behaviour concerning important aspects that may have negatively impacted teachers during the pandemic and that can explain and contribute to the hypothesises of this study associated to JS. We start with the results for JS and Life Satisfaction (LS) before and after (at the time of the survey) the Covid-19 pandemic.

4.1.1. Job Satisfaction

Most teachers noted that they 'agreed' and 'strongly agree' to being satisfied with their work before the pandemic, with 44% and 32% responses respectively. After the pandemic, at the time of the survey this large majority remained, with 39% people agreeing and 23% strongly agreeing to it, despite there being more people to respond" completely disagree" or "Disagree" (see Figure 2 and Figure A.II.1). Regarding life satisfaction in general, most teachers answered that they agreed and strongly agreed to being satisfied before the pandemic, with 45% and 33% respectively. At the time of the survey, there was a rise to people disagreeing and completely disagreeing with being satisfied (from 5% to 12%), however most still 'agreed' and 'strongly agreed' to being satisfied with their lives, 39% and 23% respectively (see Figure A.II.2).). These results can be directly compared to the one's Alves et al. (2021), which concluded with their study on Portuguese teachers that, despite teachers' level of satisfaction with the education system being reasonably good before the pandemic, this perception decreased after Covid-19. This goes against what studies such as the one conducted by Baert et al.'s (2020a) concludes, which is that overall job satisfaction increases with telework.



Figure 2-Job Satisfaction (JS) before of pandemic and at the time of the survey (unidades %) Question: I felt satisfied with my teaching work / I feel satisfied with my teaching work (5 point-Likert Scale) Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

When looking at teachers' responses regarding their job satisfaction and life satisfaction before the pandemic started and at the time of the survey is evident the sharp decrease of JS and LS for women and men (Figure 3).



Figure 3-Job Satisfaction (JS) and Life Satisfaction (LS) before of pandemic and at the time of the survey by gender (Mean values; Maximum=5 Minimum=1)

According to the statistics, there was no significant gender gap that negatively affected women found in neither job satisfaction, nor their life satisfaction. This goes directly against what Feng & Savani (2020) concluded in their study, namely, that the Covid-19 pandemic created a gender gap in perceived work productivity and created a gender gap in job satisfaction due to telework and that it emerges more easily when dual-career parents are working from home and do not have access to childcare services, which was also not confirmed by this research.

4.1.2. Adapting to the pandemic and the technostress and Hyp.1

There was a difference when it came to teachers' adaptation to telework and the lockdowns in 2020 and in 2021. This can be because of the lack of preparedness for the sudden school closures and the consequent influence in teacher's self-efficacy, as suggested by Gonçalves, Sousa & Pereira (2020) and Dong et al. (2020). In the first lockdown in 2020 about 53% of the teachers that answered, agreed and strongly agreed that they were able to easily adapt to telework and 16% expressed that they disagreed or completely disagreed, whilst in 2021, 82% of the teachers that answered, agreed and strongly agreed that they were able to easily adapt to telework and 16% expressed that they disagreed (see Figure A.II.3)

Comparably, 31% of the teachers pointed out that in 2020 they agreed and strongly agreed that their collegues adapted to the lockdown, whilst in 2021 that percentage increased to 65% respectively.(see Figure A.II.4)Both in 2020 and 2021, most of the teachers confirmed that the teaching techniques, methods, learning and

Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

assessment have been profoundly changed, with 82% and 83% positive responses (agree and strongly agree) for 2020 and 2021 respectively (see Figure A.II.5).

The mean of the answers (5-point Likert scale) regarding the question "*I easily adapted to distance learning*" increased from 3.14 in the first lockdown to 4.23 in the second one. Teachers' self-evaluation shows a larger increase compared to the evaluation of their peers in the question "*In general, my school colleagues easily adapted to distance learning*", which moves from 3.56 to 3.77 (Table III). There is an overall agreement regarding the profound change imposed by the remote teaching and learning (Gadermann et al., 2021). The question "*With distance learning the teaching techniques, methods, learning and assessment have been profoundly changed*" had a mean around 4.30 for both lockdowns and a standard deviation of 0.76 and 0.74. These results go against the findings from Ozgür (2020) and Kraft, Simon & Lyon (2020) regarding technostress and adapting to online schooling, in which they concluded that technostress would be expected to be present especially amongst older teachers due to telework and the lack of knowledge regarding new technologies. However, taking into consideration that most teachers who responded to this survey were 45 years of age and above, this was not corroborated.

Questions in the Survey (*)	Mean	Median	SD
"I easily adapted to distance learning"			
1 st closure	3.14	3.00	0.87
2 nd closure	4.23	4.00	0.77
"In general, my school colleagues easily adapted to distance learning"			
1 st closure			
2 nd closure	3.56	4.00	1.34
	3.77	4.00	0.73
<i>"With distance learning the teaching techniques, methods, learning and assessment</i>			
have been profoundly changed"			
1 st closure	4.28	4.00	0.76
2 nd closure	4.26	4.00	0.74
"I had access to the essential resources to teach at home (computers, internet			
connection, physical space)"			
1 st closure	3.56	4.00	1.34
2 nd closure	3.89	4.00	1.21

Table III-Coping with changes; first and second school closure

(*) Answers in a 5 points Likert scale: 1= 'Completely disagree'; 5='Strongly Agree' Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

We can conclude that Hypothesis 1 was not completely corroborated because, in the second school closure teachers in general easily adapted to the new technologies and methods imposed by urgency remote teaching.

4.1.3. Work Life Conflict and Balance and Hyp. 2

Regarding questions of time management during lockdown and telework, most teachers point out that it was more difficult to balance their time and lives. When confronted by the question "*Distance learning has enabled me to reconcile work with family and personal life at home*" answers were divided for most people. About 31% of the teachers in total answered that it was easier to balance their personal and work lives whilst in lockdown and telework in 2020 (4= *Agree*; 5=*Strongly Agree*), and in total about 37% of the answers in total showed this to be worsened by telework (1=*Completely disagree*; 2=*Disagree*). In 2021 36% of teachers had a positive impression of this issue (4= *Agree*; 5=*Strongly Agree*), whilst 33% still disagreed to it being a positive influence on work-life balance (1=*Completely disagree*; 2=*Disagree*). (see Figure A.II.6)

This was corroborated by a second question regarding the balance between personal and work life, namely "*Possibility of balancing work time and personal and / or family time*", where before the pandemic opinions are divided between frequently and seldom, with 48% and 46% responses respectively. However, after the pandemic, the correspondent percentages changed to 34% and 56%, with a decrease of 14pp of those who frequently are able to balance work and lifetime. The increase of the work-life conflict amongst teachers, however, goes along with the more general findings of Kraft, Simon and Lyon (2020). The large share of responses regarding the question "*Family responsibilities prevent you from dedicating the time you should to your work*" were never and seldom, both before and after the pandemic. However, the frequent occurrence increases about 4 pp with the pandemic (Table IV).

Analysing the class preparation time in 2020 and 2021, one can conclude that, most of the teachers declared that it increased substantially in both lockdowns, 84% and 81% responses respectively (4=I agree; 5=Strongly Agree) (see Figure A.II.7). When it comes to the external support services for household chores or child/old people services, most teachers never had these services before the pandemic and this maintained itself after the pandemic, with a percentage of 71% before the pandemic and 72% after (see Figure A.II.8).

After Covid-19 pandemic the work organization of teachers has a significant change. After pandemic, the work during weekends is frequent for 86% teachers and compared with the situation before pandemic corresponds to an increase of 19 p.p.. When it comes to working at night, most teachers answered that this practice was frequent, both before and after the pandemic. However, the work at night is frequent after pandemic for 79% which corresponds to an increase of 17 p.p. (Table IV).

Teachers also confirmed this increase in workload. The difficulty in reconciling working hours is better understood when analysing weekly time spent before and after the pandemic (Figure 2). The biggest increase occurred was in the group of those who work more than 45 hours a week, with women went from 22% before pandemic to 41% after pandemic. It should be noted that the teachers' working week is contractually

established and is equal to 35 hours (Figure 4) (Pato & Fontainha, 2021c). (see Figure 4).-Before the pandemic, most teachers noted that they agreed and completely agreed and strongly agreed, that they were 'too tired after work to do things they liked' when at home (38% and 17% respectively). This feeling increased even more after the pandemic, with 34% teachers agreeing with the affirmation and 33% strongly agreeing (see Figure A.II.9).



Figure 4- Distribution of weekly hours allocated to teaching activities before and after the pandemic, by gender (unit: %)

	Before Pandemic [1]	After Pandemic [2]	Change (p.p.) [3]=[2]-[1]
"Work during the weekend"			
Fequent (%)	67.0	85.5	18.5
Seldom (%)	28.8	11.5	-17.3
Never (%)	4.2	3.0	-1.2
"Work at night"			
Fequent (%)	62.2	79.1	16.9
Seldom (%)	32.6	17.1	-15.5
Never (%)	5.2	3.8	-1.4
"Possibility of balancing work time and			
personal and family time"			
Fequent (%)	47.9	34.0	-13.9
Seldom (%)	46.4	56.2	9.8
Never (%)	5.8	9.7	3.9
"Family responsibilities prevent teacher			
from dedicating the time he/she should			
work"			
Fequent (%)	12.7	16.2	3.5
Seldom (%)	56.6	56.4	-0.2
Never (%)	30.7	27.4	-3.3

Table IV-Teachers' work organization before and after pandemic.

Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

When it comes to the division of household chores teachers pointed out that before the pandemic the chores were frequently divided (55% of the responses), and after the pandemic, the group for "frequent" maintained its majority with 57% (see Figure A.II.10). Regarding the division of children or elderly care, most responses before the pandemic were "frequent" and "seldom", with 35% and 20% respectively, and this majority also maintained itself after the pandemic (see Figure A.II.11). These findings about household work sharing among members, go against the literature that concludes that women have more difficulty in balancing work and life, especially the ones who must take care of smaller children (Del Boca et al., 2020; Kraft & Simon, 2020; Kraft, Simon & Lyon, 2020).

We can conclude that Hypothesis 2 was corroborated because there is evidence that with mandatory lockdown and emergency remote teaching worsened the teacher's work-life conflict.

4.1.4. Stress and burnout and Hyp. 3

Trying to evaluate the consequences of the changes occurred after pandemic on the stress levels and on the overall mental health and well-being of teachers, the question regarding "Work left me / leaves me emotionally drained" was asked. Before the pandemic, 49% of the answers agree. After the pandemic, at the moment of the survey, this divide is maintained, however, we can see an increase to 60% of agreement (see Figure A.II.12). Still regarding this question, the mean from 2020 and 2021 went from 3.32 to 3.68 which also suggests an increase of the teachers that agreed with the affirmation. (see Table V).

The environment in with the teacher teaches also greatly affects mental health as mentioned in the literature review. Considering the situation before pandemic, most teachers responded to the questions "Overall, the environment and working conditions were good" in a positive manner, 77% of the totally of the valid answers (4=Agree, 5=Strongly Agree). Only 4 % of the teachers answered that the work conditions were not good (1=Completely Disagree; 2=Disagree). Considering the moment of the survey (June/July 2021), most teachers still mentioned that they agreed and strongly agreed with having good environment and working conditions (68%). The number of neutral answers increased from 3% to 8%. (see Figure A.II.13). However, it is still important to note that there are some teachers who also noted that they did not have the access to resources in 2020 and 2021, 22% and 14% respectively, since it is still a high number (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree) (see Figure A.II.14). Regarding the work environment still, from one period to the other, the mean decreased from 4,02 to 3,83 as well, supporting the previous presented percentages. (see Table V).

Before the pandemic, most teachers agreed and strongly agreed to have enough energy for family and friends when in moments of leisure (70% of the responses in total). At the time of the survey, there was a clear rise in the teachers that neither agreed and disagreed and the ones who disagreed, who went from 23% before the pandemic to 40% after the pandemic (see Figure A.II.15). This is a very significant rise, and it goes along with the information in the Eurydice Report (European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice, 2021a and 2021b) where it was stated that almost one third of the working time of the teachers is to plan and in assessment, which in turn creates a work overload which contributes to stress and influences mental health. There was also a worsening when it came to the question "I was / am too tired after work to do things I liked when at home." from the 1st to the 2nd closure, which can be noted by a slight increase in the mean from 3,50 to 3,84 (see Table V)

All these results are well sustained by studies such as Kraft, Simon and Lyon (2020), that conclude that teacher's mental health was affected by their perception regarding their sense of success having decreased with the pandemic. Despite having most students attend online classes, the lack of in-person contacts and communication, and difficulties in being able to give feedback and support students, influenced their stress levels and mental well-being. Mahmoodi-Shahrebabaki (2020) also found high levels of anxiety, low job satisfaction, occupational stress, depression, and other mental problems amongst teachers. His study can therefore serve as a possible prediction for the teachers who noted this decrease in their work-life balance and that felt emotionally exhausted. Baert et al., (2020a and 2020b) conclusions, that telework helps to minimise both work-related stress and the chance of burnout, can therefore not be confirmed in the case of involuntary telework.

Mean	Median	SD
4.02	4.00	0.799
3.83	4.00	0.924
3.50	4.00	1.086
3.84	4.00	1.143
3.32	3.00	1.171
3.68	4.00	1.200
	4.02 3.83 3.50 3.84 3.32	4.02 4.00 3.83 4.00 3.50 4.00 3.84 4.00 3.32 3.00

Table V-Questions associated to mental health (mean, median and SD), Before Pandemic and at the time of the survey ('Now')

5 points Likert scale: 1= 'Completely disagree'; 5='Strongly Agree'

Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

We can conclude that Hypothesis 3 was corroborated because the results clearly suggest a decrease in mental well-being and health.

4.1.5. Teacher/Student communication and student performance and Hyp. 4

Regarding the adequate preparation of students for assessment, more than one third of the teachers responded, "I neither agree or disagree", 37% and 36 % of the responses in 2020 and 2021 respectively. About 32% in 2020 pointed out that the assessment was not the adequate (1=Completely disagree; 2=Disagree) and in 2021 26% pointed out the same (see Figure A.II.16). These results converge with Orlov et al., (2020) and Pokhrel and Chetri (2021). Communication is, as we know, a very important part of a teachers' job, that can influence the way a teacher does her or his job and it can contribute to self-isolation (Baert et al., 2020a). Most teachers in this research pointed out that their ability to communicate with students decreased substantially during distance learning, with about 68% and 64% of the responses in favour of this difficulty in both lockdowns (2020 and 2021) respectively it seems to have been a small increase in the ability to communicate from one lockdown to the other. (see Figure A.II.17).

This newly found difficulty in being able to engage their students was also proved to be an issue in Kraft, Simon & Lyon's (2021) research. The way students perform does directly influence teachers' satisfaction, as mentioned before in the literature review, and can consequently influence their stress levels. Based on the results for students and time allocation and workload, is not surprising that job and life satisfaction worsened with pandemic, and consequently increased stress and burnout. Regarding the question *"Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has enabled students to perform equally*", most teachers responded that their students' performance was not the same during distance learning. For the first school closure (2020), 54% mentioned it not to have been the same (1=Completely Disagree; 2=Disagree) and for the second school closure (2021), the percentage decreased to 48% of answers (see Figure A.II.18). The mean increased from the first to the second closure (2.30 to 2.56) (see Table VI).

Kengatharan (2019) found similar evidence and concluded that misbehaving students and the environment in which teachers perform can have negative effects on teachers' success, and, consequently on their job satisfaction.
	Mean	Median	SD
"Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has hampered communication			
between teachers and students"			
1 st closure	3.92	4	1.10
2^{nd} closure	3.79	4	1.11
"Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has enabled students to perform			
equally"			
1 st closure	2.30	2	1.02
2^{nd} closure	2.56	2	1.04
"With distance learning, the preparation of students for the assessment (national and			
local exams) was adequate"			
1 st closure	2.85	3	0.97
2 nd closure	3.00	3	0.97

Table VI-Effect of urgency remote teaching on students learning and performance (first and second school closure)

5 points Likert scale: 1= 'Completely disagree'; 5='Strongly Agree'

Source: Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

We can conclude that Hypothesis 4 was corroborated because teachers' motivation and sense of success worsened after pandemic, in association with students' behavior and outcomes.

4.1.6. In their own words: What teachers say about teaching during the pandemic

Regarding the open questions about advantages and disadvantages of teaching online based on the personal experience of each respondent (Questions 6 and 7 in Appendix III), most of the answers are related to the previously presented literature and the previously elaborated hypotheses associated to JS. The advantages and disadvantages from telework must be reconsidered once teachers were unexpectedly and urgently forced to it due to the pandemic. Firstly, when it comes to the advantages of teleworking, part of the men and women did not respond, which can sustain the theory that telework could be not as advantageous as though before. The teachers who responded, in general, pointed out more disadvantages than advantages. Most respondents either did not respond, nor could point out advantages (women, 47% and men, 42% (see Figure A.II.19). When it came to the disadvantages, there was also most teachers, who did not respond and pointed out no disadvantages (women, 25% and men, 23% respectively) (see Figure A. II.20).

There were more women who pointed out disadvantages than there were men, 25% and 23% respectively (see Figure A.II.20), whilst when it comes to the advantages 47% were from men and 42% were pointed out by women (see Figure A.II.19).

Advantages

One of the biggest advantages that both men (29%) and women (17%) see alike (see Figure A.II.19, , namely "Adopting new technologies and tools and training and new skills. Best equipment at home most of the time") is that their own and their students' knowledge about technology improved substantially due to the imposed distance learning (Raišiene et al., 2020), however, teachers do also note that this improvement was not prepared accordingly and that most had to commit even more to their job to learn. Despite it being noted as an advantage, most teachers mentioned the fact of it being "forced".

"The possibility of exploring technological resources that don't even exist in schools because computers are obsolete. It is unfortunate, however, that this exploitation has to be done at the expense of students' and teachers' personal equipment" (Male, 35-44 years old, 11-19 years of teaching experience, Arts teacher)

The other most frequently referred advantage for both men and women (in similar percentage, 8%) (see Figure A.II.19) are the fact that their students were able to improve their autonomy, productivity, and concentration, which in turn made teaching them easier. However, most teachers answered that the autonomy only rose with the already good students.

"For some, very few students, the remote teaching process works, especially for the best students, with work autonomy, because they can manage their learning times and direct them in their favour" (Female, 55-64 years old, 20 years or more of teaching experience, Arts Teacher)

It is also important to note that there were a considerable number of teachers that pointed out the bettering of their student's indiscipline as one of the biggest advantages of the distance learning. Despite not being frequently mentioned advantage, and therefore not being in Figure A.II.19, it gathered 4% from women and 5% from the men who responded .

"Through remote teaching there are no problems of indiscipline on the part of the students. This, for me, is the biggest advantage. The online classes run smoothly and therefore do not exhaust me, nor do they affect me negatively from a psychological point of view. In fact, if I had my choice, I would ask to teach half the time from home. Another advantage is the fact that we don't waste time traveling to school. I should also point out that this type of class forced me to research more teaching resources, such as short films, videos, and virtual games, to motivate the students more and captivate their attention. In other words, it turned out to be a facilitating aspect in the sense of making the classes more appealing." (Female, 55-64 years old, 20 years or more of teaching experience, Science Teacher)

Disadvantages

The disadvantages, on the other hand, show us a different and a more interesting story. Despite there being many teachers who did not respond (25% for women and 24% for men), the ones who did, were very coherent when it came to listing the disadvantages of distance learning (see Figure A.II.20).

Most of them were very focused on the students themselves, which supports Blau's social exchange theory for teachers, which advocates the importance of the student's wellbeing and learning for the teacher's job satisfaction (Blau, 1964). If the students are not able to perform and have the same environment and resources, teachers will feel a sense of frustration and a dissatisfaction with their own work, since they cannot help all students in the same way (IAVE, 2021). This disadvantage in being having "Difficulty in the use of new tools (students and/or teachers), in teaching and student learning" was pointed out by both women and men, with 12% and 14% respectively (see Figure A.II.20). These results converge with those obtained by Lim and Tan (2020).

"The big disadvantage is that we don't know if the students are following the lessons or not. They may have the camera on, but they may be watching other things on their cell phones, messaging on social networks, listening to music, ... In my opinion, distance learning works only with students who have sufficient maturity and responsibility, as well as autonomy" (Female, 55-64 years old, 20 years or more of teaching experience, Science Teacher)

The lack of social interaction with the students was one of the most mentioned disadvantages, which certainly is very connected to the disadvantage mentioned above, the difficulty in learning about new tools and forms of work, and the lack of the students' motivation and concentration. About 16% of the women and men mentioned this lack of personal interaction, in-person contact, and personalization as one of the most frequent disadvantaged which added in turn to the difficulty in communication. Consequently, students lacked 'concentration, motivation, and autonomy', according to both women and men (about 11%) (see Figure A.II.20). This disadvantage was stressed also by Gadermann et al., (2021) and Feng and Savani (2020).

"The lack of direct and personal communication and relationship between the actors involved in the process, especially the students and the teachers, as well as the students among themselves, during

and in the class context (=classroom)" (Male, 55-64 years old, 20 years or more of teaching experience, Physical Education Teacher)

One of the disadvantages also mentioned can arguably be the fact that teachers felt that there were inequalities amongst their students regarding the access to equipment and other resources (11% of the women and 7% of the men mentioning this disadvantage (see Figure A.II.20). Bacher-Hicks, Goodman and Mulhern, 2021). Ziebell et al.'s (2020) also corroborates these findings, since they concluded, for the Australian case, that just above half percent of the teachers in their study reported that all their students had access to technology to be present in the online classes.

"The disadvantages are numerous. The main one, for me, is the constraints associated with the accentuation of inequalities. I'm not just talking about socio-economic inequalities, I'm talking about inequalities related to the difficulties of the students, because, for many, distance learning has proven to be a setback in their learning process and relationship with their peers and with society in general" (Female, 44-55 years old, 20 years or more of teaching experience, Science Teacher)

These inequalities go along with the results obtained by Conselho Nacional de Educação (2021) report for Portugal, where 21% of the teachers answered that more than 30% of their students were affected by the inexistence of digital devices at home. They also showed in the report that when it came to the teacher's perception of their students' resources, 15% said it was hard to have access to a computer, 13% considered it hard for their students to be able to have internet, 19% considered that their students did not have access to essential learning resources, and finally 13% found that their students had difficulty in having access to digital devices overall. The Conselho Nacional de Educação report (2021) also concluded that most of the teachers pointed out the significant increase of social inequalities amongst students (66%) and, consequently, and increased risk of school abandonment and dropout (51%).

This also goes along with what Gadermann et al.'s (2021) study for Canada (British Columbia) concluded, in which most of the teacher's responses also hinted to moderate or almost no inclusiveness for more vulnerable students, with 38% and 31% respectively.

The "lack of reliability and more difficulty in evaluations and assignments" was also one of the mentioned disadvantages in general, despite it being with a lower frequency than the ones before, with 6% of women and 8% of men mentioning it (see Figure A.II.20) (corroborated by Seabra et al.'s (2021).

Chapter V

Conclusions

The pandemic imposed unexpected changes in the field of education and in the social and economic behaviours and routines of schools, teachers, students, and families alike. Before pandemic, being a teacher was already considered one of the most stressful and demanding jobs. It comes, therefore, as no surprise, that the pandemic worsened teachers' lives and influenced their job satisfaction. Working from home was a good short time solution for the urgent need that surfaced due to the pandemic, but as most of the studies stated, this type of work can be easily negatively influence by external factors.

The findings in this study shed some light on the reality of high school teachers and will contribute to prepare solutions to the short-term and long-term problems in education related to the pandemic.

Empirical evidence based on data collected by an original survey applied in Portugal in 2021, suggests that: After pandemic teachers' **job and life satisfaction** decreased for both women and men.

Conclusions about the four drivers of job satisfaction studied were:

Closed questions, using a Likert scale did not show relevant evidence regarding the occurrence of **techno stress and difficulty to adapt** to remote urgency teaching. However, open questions reveal some contradictory results. It is clear in some of the open responses that some teachers felt that there was a lack of preparedness and training especially in the first school closure (2020) regarding the methods and technologies that had to be used while remote teaching. This led to teacher being more frustrated and feel less in control. Training is required to implement changes, (Carrillo & Flores, 2020; Ziebell et al., 2020).

Contrary to telework literature in general, it was not empirically confirmed that telework (unvoluntary) during the pandemic contributed to reduce the **work-life conflict** and to increase a work-life balance. Household structure and routines changed substantially. However, results cannot be generalized since the online teaching was sudden and unvoluntary.

The amount of work increased considerably during both lockdowns. Teachers noted a significant **workload increase**, which contributed to the lack of personal and family time, with even one of the respondents going as far as to say that she "had no time to be a mother". Being constantly available due to telework (Bonacini, Gallo & Scicchitano, 2020) increases the work-overload and has a negative impact on the work-life conflict and balance (OECD, 2020 and 2021; Schleicher, 2020; Suh & Lee, 2017). The **work-life conflict** increased with the closure of kindergarten, schools, and home support services, and **working women** have an extra burden of unpaid work and parental supervision that arises from their still predominant traditional role. Telework negatively impacts those who must share their work environment with other household members

and simultaneously supervise their own children (Sevilla & Smith, 2020). It was not confirmed whether the **gender unbalanced participation** within the household was exacerbated with pandemic (Connor et al., 2020; Borah-Hazarika & Das, 2021; Lim & Tan, 2020; Raišienė et al., 2020).

The empirical results suggest strong **negative effect on mental well-being and mental health** of teachers. There was an increase in the feeling of being too tired from work to be able to have personal or family time, as well as in the feeling of being emotionally drained with their work. The workload increase, and less personal time seems to directly influences teachers' **stress and burnout** levels. Teacher's sense of success decreased due to lack of student engagement, and their stress and burnout levels were affected (Kraft et al., 2020). Because the workload increase, and less personal time directly influences teachers' stress levels. (Eurydice Report, 2021). The increasing difficulty in unplugging led to more stress (Correia, Gomes & Moreira, 2010; Tarafdar et al., 2015). In 2020, the literature, did not confirm that the Covid-19 pandemic may have aggravated the number of cases of burnout syndrome among women (Galea, Merchant & Lurie, 2020; Hayes et al., 2020; Xiong et al., 2020). However, the 'long Covid-19' is currently object of research.

With the pandemic there was a decrease in **teachers' sense of success** due to a lack of communication amongst teachers and students. Student's performance worsened in general which led to their preparation for assessments not being the most accurate one. Increase in dissatisfaction due to teachers feeling that there was a lack of connection and in-person contact with their students, especially when it came to dealing with students who had more difficulties (Baert et al., 2020a; Pokhrel & Chetri, 2021). **Student's behaviour and performance** influenced teacher's sense of success and decreased their satisfaction; Being able to engage students in their classes directly influences the sense of success (Kraft, Simon & Lyon, 2020). Many students during the lockdown experienced a lack of productivity due to lack of personal and direct contact with their teachers (Jelińska & Paradowski, 2020).

Difficulty in assessing students and giving feedback influenced **teacher's motivation** (Orlov et al., 2020) and the existing **digital divide amongst students** created additional problems (Bacher-Hicks, Goodman & Mulhern, 2021).

The fact that **no gender gap** was clearly identified in this empirical analysis can be because of, not only the composition of the sample (75% are women), but also because of the different ways each gender perceives difficulties and hardships. In the open questions, for example, women in general appointed a higher percentage of disadvantages than men, which can point to a difference in dealing with emergency remote teaching and learning.

The results point to the necessity of conducting studies, on a national level and at large scale, to be able to design specific and general policies and actions to deal with the challenges related to the pandemic and to the one's on the long run (e.g., gender equality policies; working organization; improving telecommuting

practices; teacher roles and methods). Training both teachers and students, having a consistent supportive environment and creating new methods to reform the education system can take advantage of the experience of emergency remote teaching and prevent a lot of stress and frustrations.

Limitations and Future Research Avenues

This study as several limitations and opened in parallel several research avenues.

One of the limitations is that the sample was not a random sample. The size of the sample, as well as the time the survey was conducted, can be seen as a limitation, since questions about the "before the pandemic" had the need for teachers to recall the reality and to be able to compare it to the present. One of the most evident limitations was the use of a retrospective report, which may have led to inconsistencies and incongruities. The results, due to time constraints, were not explored in its totality and the methods of analysis were not the more complex. The references of the effects of the pandemic on teachers just now started to be more detailed and carefully conducted. Due to time constrains, it wasn't possible do both do a literature review and explore completely the data collected. Some further research is already done (Pato & Fontainha, 2022).

Future research needs to further examine the long-term consequences on mental health and mental well-being amongst teachers, possibly with longitudinal research. These results can be extremely helpful on the long run, since as we mentioned before, most mental health issues take time to develop. It would be, therefore, extremely interesting to repeat this survey in 1 and in 2 years, since for example some of the consequences for burnout only come to fruition after at least 1 year of exposure (e.g. semi-directive interviews). It would also be proposed that the Job Satisfaction amongst teachers would be furthered studied, since the results of this pandemic could take some time to truly influence it in a more negative way. The results obtained through the open questions also suggest that the theme still has a lot to be discovered about when it comes to teachers's job satisfaction and the associated drivers and consequences.

References

Acemoglu, D., Chernozhukov, V., Werning, I., & Whinston, M. D. (2021). Optimal targeted lockdowns in a multi-group SIR model. *American Economic Review: Insights*, 3 (4), 487-502,10.1257/aeri.20200590. URL: <u>https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/aeri.20200590</u>

Ahuja, M. K., Chudoba, K. M., Kacmar, C. J., McKnight, D. H., & George, J. F. (2007). IT road warriors: Balancing work-family conflict, job autonomy, and work overload to mitigate turnover intentions. *Management Information Systems Research Center, University of Minnesota*, 31 (1), 1-17, https://doi.org/10.2307/25148778.

Ainley, J. and R. Carstens (2018). Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS) 2018. Conceptual Framework", *OECD Education Working Papers*, (187), OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/799337c2-en</u>

Al-Fudail, M., & Mellar, H. (2008). Investigating teacher stress when using technology. *Computers & Education*, 51 (3), 1103-1110, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compedu.2007.11.004.

Allen, S. (2020). COVID-19 Is Straining Mental Health—Could Technology Be the Answer?. *Institute of Eletrical and Eletronics Engineers, IEEE pulse*, 11(4), 8-13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1109/MPULS.2020.3008355</u>

Alon, T. M., Doepke, M., Olmstead-Rumsey, J., & Tertilt, M. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on gender equality. *National Bureau of Economic Research*, (26947), <u>https://doi.org/10.3386/w26947</u>

Alves, R., Lopes, T., & Precioso, J. (2021). Teachers' well-being in times of Covid-19 pandemic: factors that explain professional well-being. *IJERI: International Journal of Educational Research and Innovation*, (15), 203-217, <u>https://doi.org/10.46661/ijeri.5120</u>

Angelici, M., & Profeta, P. (2020). Smart-working: work flexibility without constraints. *CESifo Working Paper*, (8165), <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3556304</u>

Arntz, M., Yahmed, S. B., & Berlingieri, F. (2020). Working from Home and COVID-19: The Chances and Risks for Gender Gaps. *Intereconomics*, 55 (6), 381-386, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10272-020-0938-5</u>

Arnetz, B. B., & Wiholm, C. (1997). Technological stress: Psychophysiological symptoms in modern offices. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 43 (1), 35-42, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(97)00083-4</u>

Aryee, S., Srinivas, E. S., & Tan, H. H. (2005). Rhythms of life: antecedents and outcomes of work-family balance in employed parents. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 90 (1), 132-146, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.90.1.132</u>

Atmaca, Ç., Rızaoğlu, F., Türkdoğan, T., & Yaylı, D. (2020). An emotion focused approach in predicting teacher burnout and job satisfaction. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *Elsevier*, 90(103025), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2020.103025

Aucejo, E. M., French, J., Araya, M. P. U., & Zafar, B. (2020). The impact of COVID-19 on student experiences and expectations: Evidence from a survey. *Journal of Public Economics*, 191 (104271), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104271

Aujayeb, A., & Wakefield, D. (2020). A note on working from home. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 77 (11), 806, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2020-106820</u>

Bacher-Hicks, A., Goodman, J. & Mulhern, C. (2021) Inequality in household adaptation to schooling shocks: Covid-induced online learning engagement in real time. *Journal of Public Economics*, 193 (104345), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpubeco.2020.104345

Baert, S., Lippens, L., Moens, E., Weytjens, J., & Sterkens, P. (2020a). The COVID-19 crisis and telework: A research survey on experiences, expectations and hopes, *Institute of Labor Economics, IZA Discussion Paper* (13229), <u>https://ssrn.com/abstract=3596696</u>

Baert, S., Lippens, L., Moens, E., Sterkens, P., & Weytjens, J. (2020b). How do we think the COVID-19 crisis will affect our careers (if any remain)?. *Institute of Labor Economics, IZA Discussion Paper* (13164), https://ssrn.com/abstract=3584927

Bandura, A. (1986). *Social Cognitive Theory*. Annals of child development, Six theories of child development, In R. Vasta (Ed.), 6, 1-60. Greenwich, CT: JAI Press. Beames J.R., Christensen H., & Werner-Seidler. A. (2021). School teachers: the forgotten frontline workers of Covid-19. *Australas Psychiatry*, 29 (4), 420-422, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/10398562211006145</u>

Beehr, T. A., Glaser, K.M., Beehr, M. J., Beehr, D. E., Wallwey, D. A., & Erofeev, D. (2006). The nature of satisfaction with subordinates: Its predictors and importance to supervisors. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 36 (6), 1523–1547, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-9029.2006.00070.x</u>

Belcastro, P. A. (1982). Burnout and its relationship to teachers' somatic complaints and illnesses. *Psychological Reports*, 50 (3), 1045-1046, <u>https://doi.org/10.2466/pr0.1982.50.3c.1045</u>

Blasko, Z. (2020). Working from Home when Teachers Do the Same–Teleworking and Work-Family Conflicts during COVID-19 Lockdowns. Available at SSRN 3729301, https://ssrn.com/abstract=3729301 or http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3729301

Blasko, Z., Papadimitriou, E. and Manca, A.R. (2020). *How will the COVID-19 crisis affect existing gender divides in Europe*. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, EUR 30181 EN, ISBN 978-92-76-18170-5, 10.2760/37511, JRC120525.

Blau, P. M. (1964). Justice in social exchange. *Sociological Inquiry*, 34 (2), 193-206, http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1475-682X.1964.tb00583.x

Blundell, R., Costa Dias, M., Joyce, R., & Xu, X. (2020). COVID-19 and Inequalities. *Fiscal Studies*, 41(2), 291-319, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-5890.12232</u>

Boavida, N., & Moniz, A. B. (2020a). Virtual work in Portugal. *International Journal on Working Conditions*, (19), 1-15. DOI: <u>https://doi.org/10.25762/b275-ww28</u>

Boavida, N. & Brandão Moniz, A. (2020b) *Project Deep View: Concluding report for Portugal*, 1 https://doi.org/0.13140/RG.2.2.26781.26086 Boelens, R., De Wever, B., & Voet, M. (2017). Four key challenges to the design of blended learning: A systematic literature review. *Educational Research Review*, (22), 1-18, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2017.06.001</u>

Bonacini, L., Gallo, G., & Scicchitano, S. (2021). Working from home and income inequality: risks of a 'new normal' with COVID-19. *Journal of Population Economics*, 34 (1), 303-360, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00148-020-00800-7</u>

Borah-Hazarika, O., & Das, S. (2021). Paid and unpaid work during the Covid-19 pandemic: a study of the gendered division of domestic responsibilities during lockdown. *Journal of Gender Studies*, 30 (4), 429-439, https://doi.org/10.1080/09589236.2020.1863202

Bowling, N. A., & Hammond, G. D. (2008). A meta-analytic examination of the construct validity of the Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire Job Satisfaction Subscale. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 73(1), 63-77, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2008.01.004</u>

Bowling, N. A., Wagner, S. H., & Beehr, T. A. (2018). The facet satisfaction scale: An effective affective measure of job satisfaction facets. *Journal of Business and Psychology*, 33 (3), 383-403, https://doi.org/10.1007/s10869-017-9499-4

Brodeur, A., Gray, D., Islam, A., & Bhuiyan, S. (2021). A literature review of the economics of COVID-19. *Journal of Economic Surveys*, 35(4), 1007-1044, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/joes.12423</u>

Bruck, C. S., Allen, T. D., & Spector, P. E. (2002). The relation between work-family conflict and job satisfaction: A finer-grained analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 60 (3), 336-353, https://doi.org/10.1006/jvbe.2001.1836

Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020a). U.S. Department of Labor, *Occupational Outlook Handbook*, High School Teachers, at <u>https://www.bls.gov/ooh/education-training-and-library/high-school-teachers.htm</u>

Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020b). U.S. Department of Labor, *Occupational Outlook Handbook*, Middle School Teachers, at <u>https://www.bls.gov/ooh/education-training-and-library/middle-school-teachers.htm</u>

Campos, J. A. D. B., Carlotto, M. S., & Marôco, J. (2013). Copenhagen Burnout Inventory-student version: adaptation and transcultural validation for Portugal and Brazil. *Psicologia: Reflexão e Crítica*, 26 (1), 87-97, <u>https://www.scielo.br/j/prc/a/FwPMLj7WGdFjFyBdrgDvFRw/?lang=en&format=pdf</u>

Card, D., Mas, A., Moretti, E., & Saez, E. (2012). Inequality at work: The effect of peer salaries on job satisfaction. *American Economic Review*,102 (6), 2981-3003, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1257/aer.102.6.2981</u>

Carli, L. L. (2020). Women, Gender equality and COVID-19. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-07-2020-0236</u>

Carrillo, C. & Flores, M.A. (2020) COVID-19 and teacher education: a literature review of online teaching and learning practices. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 43 (4), 466-487, https://doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2020.1821184

Carlotto, M. S. (2011). Síndrome de Burnout em professores: prevalência e fatores associados. *Psicologia: Teoria e Pesquisa*, 27 (4), 403-410, http://dx.doi.org/10.1590/S0102-37722011000400003

Carlotto, M. S., Braun, A. C., Rodriguez, S. Y. S., & Diehl, L. (2014). Burnout em professores: diferença e análise de gênero. *Contextos Clínicos*, 7 (1), 86-93, 10.4013/ctc.2014.71.08

Clemente-Suárez, V. J., Dalamitros, A. A., Beltran-Velasco, A. I., Mielgo-Ayuso, J., & Tornero-Aguilera, J. F. (2020). Social and psychophysiological consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic: an extensive literature review. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 11 (3077), <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.580225</u>

Connor, J., Madhavan, S., Mokashi, M., Amanuel, H., Johnson, N. R., Pace, L. E., & Bartz, D. (2020). Health risks and outcomes that disproportionately affect women during the Covid-19 pandemic: A review. *Social Science & Medicine*, (113364), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113364</u>

Conselho Nacional de Educação (2021). *Educação em Tempo de Pandemia | Problemas, respostas e desafios das escolas*. Conselho Nacional de Educação CNE, 1.ª Edição: junho 2021, ISBN: 978-989-8841-37-7

Correia, T., Gomes, A. R., & Moreira, S. M. D. N. H. (2010). *Stresse ocupacional em professores do Ensino Básico: um estudo sobre as diferenças pessoais e profissionais*. Associação Portuguesa de Psicologia, Simpósio Nacional de Investigação em Psicologia, 1477-1493, <u>http://hdl.handle.net/1822/10502</u>

Del Boca, D., Oggero, N., Profeta, P., & Rossi, M. (2020). Women's and men's work, housework and childcare, before and during COVID-19. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 18 (4), 1001-1017, https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-020-09502-1

Direcção Geral de Estatísticas da Educação e Ciência/DGEEC (2021). *Perfil do Docente 2019/2020- Análise sectorial*. Lisboa: DGEEC.

Dong, Y., Xu, C., Chai, C. S., & Zhai, X. (2020). Exploring the structural relationship among teachers' technostress, technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK), computer self-efficacy and school support. *The Asia-Pacific Education Researcher*, 29 (2), 147-157, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s40299-019-00461-5</u>

Eichinger, J., Heifetz, L. J., & Ingraham, C. (1991). Situational shifts in sex role orientation: Correlates of work satisfaction and burnout among women in special education. *Sex Roles*, 25 (7-8), 425-440, https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1007/BF00292532.pdf

Enzmann, D., Schaufeli, W. B., Janssen, P., & Rozeman, A. (1998). Dimensionality and validity of the Burnout Measure. *Journal of Occupational and Organizational Psychology*, 71 (4), 331-351, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8325.1998.tb00680.x

Eurofound and the International Labour Office (2017). *Working anytime, anywhere: The effects on the world of work. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg, and the International Labour Office, Geneva, <u>http://eurofound.link/ef1658</u>

Eurofound. (2020). *Telework and ICT-based mobile work: Flexible working in the digital age, New forms of employment series*, Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.

Eurofound (2021) *Living, working and COVID-19: Impact on gender equality*, European Economic and Social Committee (EESC) virtual meeting, <u>https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/presentation/living-working-and-covid-19-impact-on-gender-equality</u>

European Commission/EACEA/Eurydice (2021a). Well-*being*. Eurydice report. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union. *Education, Audiovisual and Culture Executive Agency*

European Commission (2021b). *Teachers in Europe: Careers, Development and Well-being*. Eurydice report, Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

European Comission (2021c). *Covid-19 pandemic is a major challenge for gender equality. 2021 report on gender equality.* Publications Office of the European Union, Justice and Consumers, (330), 39.

European Social Survey ESS (n.d.) *Family, work and well being*, Rounds ESS2 2004 and ESS5 2010, Accessed on: <u>https://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/data/themes.html?t=family</u>

European Social Survey ESS6 (2012). ESS Round 6 Source Questionnaire. London: Centre for ComparativeSocialSurveys,CityUniversityLondon,Accessedon:https://www.europeansocialsurvey.org/docs/round6/fieldwork/source/ESS6source_main_questionnaire.pdf

Falcão, Casaca S. (2002), Questions and controversies revolving around telework–a gender perspective. Actas das comunicações, 16-18, URL: https://www.repository.utl.pt/bitstream/10400.5/1996/1/wp200608.pdf

Farber, B. A. (1991). Crisis in education: Stress and burnout in the American teacher. Jossey-Bass, https://psycnet.apa.org/record/1991-97643-000

Feng, Z., & Savani, K. (2020). Covid-19 created a gender gap in perceived work productivity and job satisfaction: implications for dual-career parents working from home. *Gender in Management: An International Journal*, 35 (7/8), 719-736, <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/GM-07-2020-0202</u>

Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1984). Stress, appraisal, and coping. New York: Springer Publishing Company

French, K. A., Allen, T. D., Miller, M. H., Kim, E. S., & Centeno, G. (2020). Faculty time allocation in relation to work-family balance, job satisfaction, commitment, and turnover intentions. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 120 (103443), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvb.2020.103443</u>

Gadermann, A.M., Warren, M.T., Gagné, M., Thomson, K.C., Schonert-Reichl, K.A., Guhn, M., Molyneux, T.M., & Oberle, E. (2021). *The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on teacher well-being in British Columbia*. Human Early Learning Partnership. <u>http://earlylearning.ubc.ca/</u>

Galasso, V., Pons, V., Profeta, P., Becher, M., Brouard, S., & Foucault, M. (2020). Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 117 (44), 27285-27291, <u>http://www.nber.org/papers/w27359</u>

Galea, S., Merchant, R. M., & Lurie, N. (2020). The mental health consequences of COVID-19 and physical distancing: the need for prevention and early intervention. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 180 (6), 817-818, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1562

García-Carmona, M., Marín, M. D., & Aguayo, R. (2019). Burnout syndrome in secondary school teachers: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Social Psychological Education*, 22, 189–208, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11218-018-9471-9</u>

Goldin, C. (2014). A grand gender convergence: Its last chapter. *American Economic Review*, 104 (4), 1091-1119, <u>https://doi.org/10.1257/aer.104.4.1091</u>

Gonçalves, S. P., Sousa, M. J., & Pereira, F. S. (2020). Distance Learning Perceptions from Higher Education Students—The Case of Portugal. *Education Sciences*, 10 (12), 374, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci10120374</u>

Greenglass, E. R., Burke, R. J., & Konarski, R. (1998). Components of Burnout, Resources, and Gender-Related Differences 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 28 (12), 1088-1106, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1998.tb01669.x

Hackman, J. R., & Oldham, G. R. (1975). Development of the job diagnostic survey. Journal of AppliedPsychology,60(2),159,https://pdfs.semanticscholar.org/0caf/272affc0b2219b80036b77c859f444d1c755.pdf

Hamermesh, D. S. (2020). Life satisfaction, loneliness and togetherness, with an application to Covid-19 lockdowns. *Review of Economics of the Household*, 18 (4), 983-1000, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11150-020-09495-</u> <u>X</u>

Hayes, S. W., Priestley, J. L., Ishmakhametov, N., & Ray, H. E. (2020). "I'm not Working from Home, I'm Living at Work": Perceived Stress and Work-Related Burnout before and during COVID-19, *PsyArXiv Preprints*, <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/osf.io/vnkwa</u>

Hoppock, R. (1933). Vocational Guidance. *Bulletin of the American Library Association*, 27 (1), 48-49, http://www.jstor.org/stable/25687837

Hoppock, R. (1936). Age and job satisfaction. *Psychological Monographs*, 47 (2), 115, https://doi.org/10.1037/h0093408

Hoppock, R. (1937). What is Success? An analysis of success in terms of guidance objectives. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 11 (5), 294-296, https://www.jstor.org/stable/30174809

IAVE (2021) *Estudo Diagnóstico das Aprendizagens*. March 2021. Available at URL: <u>https://iave.pt/novidades/estudo-diagnostico/</u>

Jelińska, M. & Paradowski, M. (2021). Teachers' Engagement in and Coping with Emergency Remote Instruction during COVID-19-Induced School Closures: A Multinational Contextual Perspective. *Online Learning*, 25, 303–328, <u>https://doi.org/10.24059/olj.v25i1.2492</u>

Judge, T. A., Thoresen, C. J., Bono, J. E., & Patton, G. K. (2001). The job satisfaction–job performance relationship: A qualitative and quantitative review. *Psychological Bulletin*, 127 (3), 376, https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.127.3.376

Judge, T. A., & Watanabe, S. (1993). Another look at the job satisfaction-life satisfaction relationship. *Journal of Applied Psychology*, 78(6), 939–948, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-9010.78.6.939</u>

Kengatharan, N. (2020). The Effects of Teacher Autonomy, Student Behavior and Student Engagement on Teacher Job Satisfaction. *Educational Sciences: Theory & Practice*, 20 (4), <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.12738/jestp.2020.4.001</u>

Kersh, R. (2018). Women in higher education: Exploring stressful workplace factors and coping strategies. *NASPA Journal About Women in Higher Education*, 11 (1), 56-73, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19407882.2017.1372295</u>

Kessler, R. C., & McRae Jr, J. A. (1982). The effect of wives' employment on the mental health of married men and women. *American Sociological Review*, 216-227, <u>http://www.jstor.org/stable/2094964</u>

Klassen, R. & Chiu, M. (2010). Effects on Teachers' Self-Efficacy and Job Satisfaction: Teacher Gender, Years of Experience, and Job Stress. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 102, 741-756, 1 <u>https://doi.org/0.1037/a0019237</u>

Kraft, M. A., & Simon, N. S. (2020). Teachers' experiences working from home during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Upbeat*. Downloaded July, 7, 2020, <u>https://f.hubspotusercontent20.net/hubfs/2914128/Upbeat%20Memo_Teaching_From_Home_Survey_June_24_2020.pdf</u>

Kraft, M. A., Simon, N. S., & Lyon, M. A. (2021). Sustaining a Sense of Success: The Protective Role of Teacher Working Conditions during the COVID-19 Pandemic, *Journal of Research on Educational Effectiveness*, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19345747.2021.1938314</u>

Kristensen, T. S., Borritz, M., Villadsen, E., & Christensen, K. B. (2005). The Copenhagen Burnout Inventory: А tool for assessment of burnout. Work & Stress, 19 (3), 192-207, new the https://doi.org/10.1080/02678370500297720

Kyriacou, C. & Sutcliffe, J. (1978). Teacher stress: Prevalence, sources and symptoms. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 48, 159–167, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8279.1978.tb02381.x</u>

Li, K., Deng, D. S., & Huang, C. (2019, August). The Influence Factors Analysis of Job Satisfaction of S&T Workers: Based on a National Survey. In 2019 Portland *International Conference on Management of Engineering and Technology* (PICMET), *IEEE*, 1-5, <u>https://doi.org/10.23919/PICMET.2019.8893930</u>

Lim, J., & Tan, P. L. (2020). Weathering the Storm: The Effects of Working from Home and Income Loss on Family Relationships During COVID-19. Available at SSRN 3702768, http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3702768

Locke, E. A. (1969). What is job satisfaction?. *Organizational Behaviour and Human Performance*, 4 (4), 309-336, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0030-5073(69)90013-0</u>

Mahmoodi-Shahrebabaki, M. (2020). The Associations among Literacy Teachers Grade Level, Teaching Experience, Work-Family Conflict, Burnout, and Turnover Intentions, Doctoral Dissertations, https://jewlscholar.mtsu.edu/handle/mtsu/6306

Marôco, J., Marôco, A. L., Leite, E., Bastos, C., Vazão, M. J., & Campos, J. (2016). Burnout em profissionais da saúde portugueses. *Acta Médica Portuguesa*, 29 (1), 24-30, <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10400.12/5081</u>

Maslach, C. (1993). Burnout: A multidimensional perspective. In W. B. Schaufeli, C. Maslach, & T. Marek (Eds.), Series in applied psychology: Social issues and questions. Professional burnout: Recent developments in theory and research. Series in *Applied Psychology: Social Issues and Questions*, Philadelphia, PA: Taylor & Francis, 19-32.

Maslach, C., Jackson, S. E., Leiter, M. P., Schaufeli, W. B., & Schwab, R. L. (1986). Maslach burnout inventory. *Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press*, 21, 3463-3464.

Messenger, J. C. (Ed.). (2019). *Telework in the 21st century: An evolutionary perspective*. Edward Elgar Publishing.

Michigan Organizational Assessment Questionnaire MOAQ. (n.d.), Accessed on: <u>https://paulspector.com/assessments/assessment-archive/job-attitudes/michigan-organizational-assessment-</u> <u>questionnaire-moaq/</u> Milbourn Jr, G., & Dunn, J. D. (1976). The Job Satisfaction Audit: How to Measure, Interpret, and Use Employee Satisfaction Data. *American Journal of Small Business*, 1 (1), 35-43, https://doi.org/10.1177/104225877600100105

Molino, M., Ingusci, E., Signore, F., Manuti, A., Giancaspro, M. L., Russo, V., Zito, M., et al. (2020). Wellbeing Costs of Technology Use during Covid-19 Remote Working: An Investigation Using the Italian Translation of the Technostress Creators Scale. *Sustainability*, 12 (15), 5911, MDPI AG, Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su12155911

Moscardó, M.A., Gallego, E.C., Nicolau, E.G., et al. (2020) *Teletrabajo y Conciliación durante el Confinamiento en la Universitat Jaume I*, URL: <u>https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Mercedes-Alcaniz/publication/346680451_Teletrabajo_y_conciliacion_en_la_UJI/links/5fce6b6192851c00f85b8062/</u> <u>Teletrabajo-y-conciliacion-en-la-UJI.pdf</u>

Nomaguchi, K. M., & Bianchi, S. M. (2004). Exercise time: Gender differences in the effects of marriage, parenthood, and employment. *Journal of Marriage and Family*, 66 (2), 413-430, https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-3737.2004.00029.x

OECD (2019), TALIS Database, OECD, https://www.oecd.org/education/talis/talis-2018-data.htm

OECD (2020). School Education During Covid-19. Were teachers and students ready? Portugal, Country Notes. OECD. https://www.oecd.org/education/Portugal-coronavirus-education-country-note.pdf

OECD (2021a). Education at a Glance 2021: OECD Indicators, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/b35a14e5-en

OECD (2021b). The State of Global Education 18 Months into the Pandemic. OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/1a23bb23-en

Orlov, G., McKee, D., Berry, J., Boyle, A., DiCiccio, T., Ransom, T., Rees-Jones, A. & Stoye, J. (2021). Learning during the COVID-19 pandemic: It is not who you teach, but how you teach. *Economics Letters*, 202, 109812, <u>https://ftp.iza.org/dp13813.pdf</u>

Özgür, H. (2020). Relationships between teachers' technostress, technological pedagogical content knowledge (TPACK), school support and demographic variables: A structural equation modelling. *Computers in Human Behaviour*, 112 (106468), <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chb.2020.106468</u>

Panagioti, M., Geraghty, K., Johnson, J., Zhou, A., Panagopoulou, E., Chew-Graham, C., ... & Esmail, A. (2018). Association between physician burnout and patient safety, professionalism, and patient satisfaction: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *JAMA Internal Medicine*, 178 (10), 1317-1331, https://doi.org/10.1001/jamainternmed.2018.3713

Passos, L., Prazeres, F., Teixeira, A., & Martins, C. (2020). Impact on mental health due to COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional study in Portugal and Brazil. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 17 (18), 6794, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17186794</u>

Pato, S. & Fontainha, E. (2021a). *Questionário sobre os efeitos da pandemia na atividade docente*. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com</u>

Pato, S. & Fontainha, E. (2021b). *Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity*. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u>

Pato, S. & Fontainha, E. (2021c). Sources and consequences of teachers' stress during the Covid-19 pandemic. *Revista Portuguesa de Investigação Educacional*, *22*, *1-17*. <u>https://doi.org/10.34632/investigacaoeducacional.2021.10467</u>

Pato, S. & Fontainha, E. (2022). Teachers' Stress and Job Satisfaction during the Covid-19 Pandemic. [Paper Presentation]. 6th LESE Conference: Lisbon Economics and Statistics of Education, Nova School of Business and Economics (Nova SBE), Carcavelos, Lisbon, 20th - 21st of January 2022. Program LESE22_20jan_Final_With_Map.pdf (lese-conference.org)

Perera, H. N., & John, J. E. (2020). Teachers' self-efficacy beliefs for teaching math: Relations with teacher and student outcomes. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 61 (101842), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cedpsych.2020.101842 Perlman, B., & Hartman, E. A. (1982). Burnout: Summary and future research. *Human Relations*, 35 (4), 283-305, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/001872678203500402</u>

PytlikZillig, L. M., Horn, C. A., Bruning, R., Bell, S., Liu, X., Siwatu, K. O., & Carlson, D. (2011). Face-toface versus computer-mediated discussion of teaching cases: Impacts on preservice teachers' engagement, critical analyses, and self-efficacy. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, 36(4), 302-312.

Pokhrel, S., & Chhetri, R. (2021). A Literature Review on Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on Teaching and Learning. *Higher Education for the Future*, 8 (1), 133–141, <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/2347631120983481</u>

Price, H. and R. Carstens (2020).*Teaching and Learning International Survey (TALIS) 2018 analysis plan*.
OECD Education Working Papers, (220), OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/7b8f4779-en</u>.

Raišienė, A. G., Rapuano, V., Varkulevičiūtė, K., & Stachová, K. (2020). Working from Home—Who is Happy? A Survey of Lithuania's employees during the COVID-19 quarantine period. *Sustainability*, 12 (13), 5332, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su12135332</u>

Redmond, P. &McGuinness, S. (2019). Explaining the Gender Gap in Job Satisfaction. *Applied Economics Letters*, 27 (17), 1-4, 10.1080/13504851.2019.1686111

Restauri, N., & Sheridan, A. D. (2020). Burnout and posttraumatic stress disorder in the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: intersection, impact, and interventions. *Journal of the American College of Radiology*, 17 (7), 921-926, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2020.05.021</u>

Schafer, R. B., & Keith, P. M. (1980). *Equity and depression among married couples*. Social Psychology Quarterly, 430-435, <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/3033963</u>

Schaffer, R. H. (1953). Job satisfaction as related to need satisfaction in work. *Psychological Monographs: General and Applied*, 67 (14), 1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0093658</u>

Schieman, S., Badawy, P. J., A. Milkie, M., & Bierman, A. (2021). Work-life conflict during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Socius*, 7 (2378023120982856).

Schleicher, A. (2020). The impact of covid-19 on education. Insights from Education at a Glance 2020. OECD.

Seabra, F., Teixeira, A., Abelha, M. & Aires (2021). Emergency Remote Teaching and Learning in Portugal: Preschool to Secondary School Teachers' Perceptions. *Educational Science*, 11 (349), <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11070349</u>

Seidman, S. A., & Zager, J. (1991). A study of coping behaviours and teacher burnout. *Work & Stress*, 5(3), 205-216, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02678379108257019</u>

Serrão, C., Duarte, I., Castro, L., & Teixeira, A. (2021). Burnout and Depression in Portuguese Healthcare Workers during the COVID-19 Pandemic—The Mediating Role of Psychological Resilience. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18 (2), 636, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020636</u>

Sevilla, A., & Smith, S. (2020). Baby steps: the gender division of childcare during the COVID-19 pandemic, *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 36, (1), S169–S186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/graa027</u>

Shek D. (2021). COVID-19 and Quality of Life: Twelve Reflections. *Applied Research in Quality of Life*, 16(1), 1-11, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11482-020-09898-z</u>

Silva, O. D. L. D., & Sousa, Á. (2020). Perception of Teachers and Students about Teaching and Learning in the period of Covid-19 pandemic. In *13th International Conference of Education, Research and Innovation* (ICERI2020), 4832-4838, IATED Academy, <u>http://hdl.handle.net/10400.3/5686</u>

Soklaridis, S., Lin, E., Lalani, Y., Rodak, T., & Sockalingam, S. (2020). Mental health interventions and supports during COVID-19 and other medical pandemics: A rapid systematic review of the evidence. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, 66, 133-146, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2020.08.007</u>

Spector, P. E. (1985). Measurement of human service staff satisfaction: Development of the Job Satisfaction Survey. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 13 (6), 693-713, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00929796</u>

Suh, A., & Lee, J. (2017). Understanding teleworkers' technostress and its influence on job satisfaction. *Internet Research*, 27 (1), 140-159, <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IntR-06-2015-0181</u> Tarafdar, M., Pullins, E. B., & Ragu-Nathan, T. S. (2015). Technostress: negative effect on performance and possible mitigations. *Information Systems Journal*, 25 (2), 103-132, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/isj.12042</u>

Teles, R., Valle, A., Rodríguez, S., Piñeiro, I. & Regueiro, B. (2020) Perceived Stress and Indicators of Burnout in Teachers at Portuguese Higher Education Institutions (HEI). *International Journal Environmental Research Public Health*, 17 (3248), <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17093248</u>

U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2015). *American time use survey user's guide*. http://www.bls.gov/tus/atususersguide.pdf. Accessed 28 July 2015

Van Horn, J. E., Schaufeli, W. B., & Enzmann, D. (1999). Teacher burnout and lack of reciprocity 1. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 29 (1), 91-108, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.1999.tb01376.x</u>

Vindegaard, N., & Benros, M. E. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and mental health consequences: Systematic review of the current evidence. *Brain, Behaviour, and Immunity*, 89, 531-542, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.048</u>

Violant-Holz, V., Gallego-Jiménez, M. G., González-González, C. S., Muñoz-Violant, S., Rodríguez, M. J., Sansano-Nadal, O., & Guerra-Balic, M. (2020). Psychological Health and Physical Activity Levels during the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Systematic Review. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17 (24), 9419, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17249419</u>

Warr, P. (1987). Work, unemployment, and mental health. Oxford University Press, Item 8. *Research Information for Teachers*, (1), 1-5.

Weiss, D. J., Dawis, R. V., & England, G. W. (1967). Manual for the Minnesota Satisfaction Questionnaire. *Minnesota Studies in Vocational Rehabilitation*, 22 (120), URL: <u>https://vpr.psych.umn.edu/sites/vpr.umn.edu/files/files/monograph_xxii_-</u> <u>manual for the mn_satisfaction_questionnaire.pdf</u>

Wood, R. & Bandura, A. (1989). Social Cognitive Theory of Organizational Management. *Academy of Management Review*, 14 (3), <u>https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.1989.4279067</u>

Xiong, J., Lipsitz, O., Nasri, F., Lui, L. M., Gill, H., Phan, L., ... & McIntyre, R. S. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: A systematic review. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 277, 55-64, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001</u>

Ziebell, N., Acquaro, D., Seah, W. T. & Pearn, C. (2020). Australian Education Survey: Examining the impact of COVID-19 Report Summary. http://hdl.handle.net/11343/276287

Appendices

Appendix I- Literature Summary

 Table A.I.1- Literature Review Synthesis of most important conclusions (confirmed/not confirmed) (see

 Chapter V for Conclusions)

Constantly available	Confirmed
Telework increases work-overload and has a negative impact	Confirmed
on the work-life conflict	
Telework negatively impacts those who must share their work	Not
environment with other household members and simultaneously	confirmed
supervise their own children	
Telework improves work-life balance	Not confirmed
Distribution of extra work penalizes women. Worse due to	Not
pandemic	confirmed
Gender unbalanced participation within household is	Not
exacerbated	confirmed
•	
and personal and family time was concluded to be negatively affect	ed by the
255	
Having time to prepare predicts technostress	Not confirmed
	nor denied
Training is required to implement changes	Confirmed
Age can influence the way teachers responded to the pandemic	Not
	confirmed
	Telework increases work-overload and has a negative impact on the work-life conflict Telework negatively impacts those who must share their work environment with other household members and simultaneously supervise their own children Telework improves work-life balance Distribution of extra work penalizes women. Worse due to pandemic Gender unbalanced participation within household is exacerbated and personal and family time was concluded to be negatively affect Ess Having time to prepare predicts technostress Training is required to implement changes

Ozgür (2020)	Difference between teachers' genders and technostress levels was	Not
	not statistically significant, age is an important variable	confirmed nor denied
Results of this thesis		
The results in this do not suggest source	es of technostress.	
Stress and Burnout		
Eurydice Report (2021)	Teachers spent more time preparing their work which resulted in higher levels of stress	Confirmed
Kraft et al. (2020);	Teacher's sense of success decreased, and mental health was affected	
Marôco et al. (2016)	Telework improves their work-life balance and helps minimize	Not
	both work-related stress and the chance of burnout	confirmed
Correia, Gomes & Moreira (2010);	The increase of working hours and difficulty in unplugging	Confirmed
Tarafdar et al. (2015).	leads to more stress	
Kraft, Simon & Lyon (2020)	Teacher's mental health was affected by their perception	
	regarding their sense of success having decreased	
Mahmoodi-Shahrebabaki (2020)	High levels of anxiety, low job satisfaction, occupational stress,	
	depression and other mental problems amongst teachers	
Baert et al., 2020	Telework helps to minimize both work-related stress and the chance of burnout	Not confirmed
Teles et al's (2020)	Significant difference when it came to women and men's mental	Not
Teles et al s (2020)	health	confirmed
Galea, Merchant & Lurie (2020); Hayes	The Covid-19 pandemic may have aggravated the number of cases	Not
et al. (2020); Xiong et al., (2020).	of burnout syndrome, especially by gender	confirmed
Results of this thesis		
Teacher's mental health was negatively i	nfluenced by the pandemic, especially due to increase in workload.	
Motivation and Sense of Success		
Orlov et al., 2020	Difficulty in assessing students and giving feedback influenced	Confirmed
	self-efficacy	
Kraft, Simon & Lyon (2020)	Being able to engage students in their classes directly influences	Confirmed
	the sense of self-efficacy	
Baert et al., 2020a; Pokhrel & Chetri (2021)	Lack of communication results in isolation for teachers	Confirmed

Jelińska & Paradowski (2020)	Many students during the lockdown experienced a lack of	Confirmed
	productivity due to lack of personal and direct contact with	
	their teachers	
Bacher-Hicks, Goodman & Mulhern	The digital divide amongst students created an added difficulty	Confirmed
(2021)		
Results of this thesis		
Teacher's sense of success decreased with	th the pandemic, influencing teacher's job satisfaction and stress leve	els.

Appendix II- Figures and Tables

	Subjects taught 2019/2020	Subjects taught 2020/2021
Sciences	149	138
Maths	76	75
Languages	174	179
Social Sciences	140	78
Technology	21	16
Economy	9	9
Professional courses	31	36
Arts	32	31
Physical Education	54	52
Musical Education	6	8
1st cycle	15	16
Special ED	14	16
Did not give classes	7	10
Pre-school	3	3
Headmaster	2	2
Total	733	669

Table A.I.1- Subjects taught 2019/2020 and 2020/2021

Source: Open questions (coded) in Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

Figure A.II.1- Distribution of answers for Questions "I felt satisfied with my teaching work / I feel satisfied with my teaching work" Before the Pandemic and Now



Figure A.II.2- Distribution of answers for Questions "I felt satisfied with life in general / I feel satisfied with life in general" Before the Pandemic and Now



Figure A.II.3- Distribution of answers for Question "I easily adapted to distance learning" for 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.4- Distribution of answers for Question "In general, my school colleagues easily adapted to distance learning" for 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.5- Distribution of answers for Question "With distance learning the teaching techniques, methods, learning and assessment have been profoundly changed" for 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.6- Distribution of answers for Question "Distance learning has enabled me to reconcile work with family and personal life at home" for 2020 and 2021





DISTANCE LEARNING HAS ENABLED ME TO RECONCILE WORK WITH FAMILY AND PERSONAL LIFE AT HOME (2021)



Figure A.II.7- Distribution of answers for Question "Class preparation time has increased substantially due to distance learning" for 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.8- Distribution of answers for Question "Frequency with which your household uses external support services for the caring of the elderly or minors", Before and After the Pandemic



Figure A.II.9- Distribution of answers for Question "I was / am too tired after work to do things I liked when at home.", Before the Pandemic and Now



Figure A.II.10- Distribution of answers for Question "Frequency with which household chores are shared in a balanced way amongst the adults who make up your household.", Before the Pandemic



Figure A.II.11- Distribution of answers for Question "Frequency with which the care for children and / or the elderly is shared in a balanced way amongst the adults who make up your household.", Before the Pandemic and Now



and Now

Figure A.II.12- Distribution of answers for Question "Work left/leaves me emotionally drained.", Before and Now



Figure A.II.13- Distribution of answers for Question "Overall, the environment and working conditions were good.", Before the Pandemic and Now

OVERALL, THE ENVIRONMENT AND WORKING CONDITIONS WERE GOOD (BEFORE)



OVERALL, THE ENVIRONMENT AND WORKING CONDITIONS ARE GOOD (NOW)



Figure A.II.14- Distribution of answers for Question "I had access to the essential resources to teach at home.", in 2020 (1st school closure) and 2021 (second school closure)



Figure A.II.15- Distribution of answers for Question "I had / I have enough energy for family and friends when in moments of leisure.", Before the Pandemic and Now



Figure A.II.16- Distribution of answers for Question "With distance learning, the preparation of students for the assessment was adequate.", 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.17- Distribution of answers for Question "Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has hampered communication between teachers and students.", 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.18- Distribution of answers for Question "Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has enabled students to perform equally" 2020 and 2021



Figure A.II.19- Urgency Remote Teaching: Most Frequent Advantages by Gender

Most mentioned advantages by gender



Source: Open questions (coded) in Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

Figure A.II.20- Urgency Remote Teaching: Most Frequent Disadvantages by Gender

Lack of reliability and more difficulty in evaluations and assignments Inequalities between students in terms of access to equipment and resources Lack of student concentration, motivation, and autonomy Difficulty in the use of new tools (students and/or teachers), in teaching and student learning Lack of personal interaction, physical contact and personalization in teaching and more difficulty in communication No response & no disadvantages 0% 5% 10% 15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40% 45% 50% Men Women

Most mentioned disadvantages by gender

Source: Open questions (coded) in Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity. Accessed on: <u>https://www.c19profsurvey.com/en</u> (Pato & Fontainha, 2021a and 2021b). See Appendix III.

Appendix III- Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity

Questionnaire about the effects of the pandemic on teaching activity

We would like to invite you to participate in this questionnaire, where the objective is to know the effects of the pandemic on teaching activities. The survey will take about 10 to 15 minutes to complete and consists of 4 screens.

Your participation in this study is strictly voluntary, with all your responses being anonymous and confidential. You can withdraw, at any time from completing the survey. We appreciate your cooperation and availability. By fully participating, you are agreeing to the following statement: "I have read the information described above, with which I agree, and I am aware that my participation is voluntary and that I can interrupt it at any time, simply by closing the page."

This questionnaire is carried out as part of a dissertation for a Master's degree in Human Resources Management (Instituto Superior de Economia e Gestão/ Lisbon School of Economics & Management (https://www.iseg.ulisboa.pt/about/), Universidade de Lisboa (https://www.ulisboa.pt/))

If you wish to have any further clarifications on the questionnaire you can contact:

Elsa Fontainha (https://www.iseg.ulisboa.pt/pt/faculty/elsa-fontainha): elmano@iseg.ulisboa.pt Sara Pato: I53068@aln.iseg.ulisboa.pt

START

Personal and household information

At the date of the answer	to the survey: ju	ne/july 2021			
Age O 20-24	O 25-34	O 35-44	O 45-54	O 55-64	O More than 65 years
iender	0	Fermale		O Male	1
urrent household dimension/size	e (number of member	6)			Number of members
ince the beginning of the pander	mic, the size of your h	ousehold		O Didn't change	O Grew O Got smaller
re you in charge of older people	? (how many?)	18-35 years:	0	36-65 years: 0	More than 65 years: 0
e you in charge of children? ow many?)	From 0-3 y	ears: 0	From 4-6 years: 0	From 7-14 year	s: 0 From 15-17 years: 0
u had close contact with Covid- e alternative (s) that apply):	19 because, (check	Contracted the virus	Family member of the virus	ontracted Collegue the virus	or student contracted Didn't have any contact
or how many years have you tau	ght?		O 5 or less	O 6-10 O	0 20 or more
hat subject (s) did you teach las	t year (academic year	2019/2020)?		w	rite here, separated by commas
hat subject (s) do you currently	teach (academic year	2020/2021)?		W	rite here, separated by commas
re face-to-face classes indispens	able for the developm	ent of the foreseen es	sential learning for any	of the subjects you teach or h	have taught in the past year? 🛛 🔌 🔿

Question 1: Taught (2020/2021) or teach (2019/2020) classes from:

	Past academic year (2019/2020)	Current Academic Year (2020/2021)
First cycle		
Second cycle		
From the 7th, 8th or 9th Grades		
From the 10th or 11th Grades		
From the 12th Grade		
Didn't/ Don't teach		

PREVIOUS PAGE NEXT PAGE

Question 2: The following table collects your opinion on distance learning in relation to two periods when online classes took place, the first lockdown (16 March 2020 - 4 April 2020) and the second lockdown (8 February 2021-19 April 2021) The response alternatives, from 1 to 5, correspond to:

1-Completely disagree; 2-Disagree; 3-I neither agree nor disagree; 4-I agree; 5-Strongly Agree

	PAST (16th of March- 4th of April 2020)	PRESENT (Since the 8th of February 2021)
I easily adapted to distance learning	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
In general, my school colleagues easily adapted to distance learning	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
I had access to the essential resources to teach at home (computers, internet connection, physical space)	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
Class preparation time has increased substantially due to distance learning	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
With distance learning the teaching techniques, methods, learning and assessment have been profoundly changed	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has hampered communication between teachers and students	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
With distance learning, the preparation of students for the assessment was adequate	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
Compared to face-to-face teaching, distance learning has enabled students to perform equally	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
Distance learning has enabled me to reconcile work with family and personal life at home	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50

PREVIOUS PAGE NEXT PAGE

Question 3: In the following table, you are asked to evaluate it in relation to several aspects about the pre-pandemic situation (before March 2020) and what changed (or not) after the pandemic (after March 2020)

	Before the Pandemic	(before the 1st of March)	After the Pandemic (depois	de Março 2020)
Work on the weekend	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldom O	Never O
Work at night, after school	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldom O	Never O
Classes and other teaching activities were carried out from your home	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldorn O	Never O
Possibility of balancing work time and personal and / or family time	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldorn O	Never O
Family responsibilities prevent you from dedicating the time you should to your work	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldorn O	Never O
How often does your household use external support services for household chores (examples: cleaning the house and clothes, ironing)	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldom O	Never O
How often does your household receive support for household chores from family members (not your household) and friends	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldorn O	Never O
Frequency with which your household uses external support services for the caring of the elderly or minors (examples: day-care or nursing, After School Programs, caregivers for the elderly, Day Care Centres for the Elderly)	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldorn O	Never ()
How often does your household receive support for the care of the elderly or minors from family members (not your household) and from friends	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldom O	Never O
Frequency with which household chores are shared in a balanced way amongst the adults who make up your household	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldom O	Never O
Frequency with which the care for children and / or the elderly is shared in a balanced way amongst the adults who make up your household	Frequent O Sel	ldom O Never O	Frequent O Seldom O	Never O
Effective teaching time per week	<35h O =35h O 36h - 4	0h O 41h - 45h O >45h	n O <35h O =35h O 36h - 40h O 4	i1h - 45h O >45h O

PREVIOUS PAGE NEXT PAGE

Question 4: In the following table, you are asked to evaluate it in relation to several aspects before the pandemic (before March 2020) and now (June 2021) The response alternatives, from 1 to 5, correspond to:

1-Completely disagree; 2-Disagree; 3-I neither agree nor disagree; 4-I agree; 5-Strongly Agree

	Before the pandemic	Now (June 2021)
Overall, the environment and working conditions were / are good.	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
I felt / I feel satisfied with my teaching work	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
I felt / I feel satisfied with life in general	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
I had / I have enough energy for family and friends when in moments of leisure.	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
I was / am too tired after work to do things I liked when at home.	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50
Work left me / leaves me emotionally drained	10 20 30 40 50	10 20 30 40 50

Question 5: In general, what are the most complex aspects of distance learning during the closure of secondary schools in Portugal (you can point out more than one alternative):

Communication with colleagues
Management of technology and communication tools
Teaching time management
The balance between teaching time and personal and family time
Communication with students
Communication with the school management / coordinators
The students' learning process
Administrative and management work
Preparation of classes
Other

Question 6: Considering your experience in the last year, what are the advantages of distance learning / classes? If applicable, highlight the main advantage.

Write here

Question 7: Considering your experience in the last year, what are the disadvantages of distance teaching / classes? If applicable, highlight the main disadvantage.

Write here

Question 8: What are your expectations regarding teaching for the next academic year (2021/2022):

Give face-to-face classes

Give distance classes

Combining distance learning with face-to-face teaching

Do not teach classes due to retirement / retirement

Do not teach classes due to other reasons

